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To the ordinary General Meeting of shareholder 
 
Dear shareholder, 

The annual report of the Board of Directors that follows (hereinafter for reasons of brevity "the Report"), was prepared 
in a manner harmonized with the relevant provisions of the current legislation and the articles of association of GRID 
TELECOM SOLE SHAREHOLDER COMPANY ("GRID TELECOM" or the “Company”) and contains in a concise, but 
substantial and comprehensive manner all the relevant information required by law, in order to extract a substantial 
and thorough understanding on the activity during the corporate year ended December 31, 2024. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
adopted by the European Union (EU). 
 
1. Analysis of Company development and financial performance 
 
a) Business model description, goals and core values 

GRID TELECOM was established on January 14, 2019, by the INDEPENDENT POWER TRANSMISSION OPERATOR SA 
("IPTO S.A." or "the Parent"). Its share capital amounts to Euro 15.038.300, while the Company as a subsidiary of IPTO 
S.A. is fully consolidated in the Group's results. The Company’s sole purpose and activity consists of: 

i. The provision of electronic communications services, products and integrated services / solutions, as well as 
broadband access 

ii. Installation, operation, exploitation, management and development of any kind of electronic communications 
networks and any kind of electronic communications infrastructure and related services, locally, nationally, cross-
border and internationally 

iii. The development, installation, operation, management and exploitation of all types of mobile and fixed 
communication services 

iv. Undertaking activities related to the provision of electronic communications services, telecommunications, 
including system design, as well as the development, production, use, sale, rental, leasing and maintenance of 
telecommunications equipment 

v. The acquisition of ownership of equipment and media for the provision of services that fall within the scope of the 
Company and the acquisition of ownership, use or exploitation rights through purchase, lease or otherwise of 
movable or immovable property or rights. 

vi. The development, installation, operation, management and exploitation of new services, based on technological 
developments in the fields of telecommunications, information technology, multimedia and the Internet, as well as 
any other service that may be provided through the Company's network or other networks in the which the 
Company has or may have access to. 

vii. The provision of electronic data processing services, databases and internet services. 

viii.  The provision of leased or subleased lines and network and leasing of capacity 

ix. The provision of consulting services or services related to line/ network operations, to companies affiliated with the 
Company, operating domestically or abroad 

x. The provision of electric mobility services to users of electric vehicles (E/V), related to the recharging and pricing of 
electric mobility, the optimal service of E/V users, indicatively through finding available charging and navigation 
points, reserving seats, but also with services in general, such as fleet management of E/V vehicles and their 
provision to E/V users, in accordance with the definitions of Law 4710/2020 and in particular the definition of the 
Electric Mobility Service Provider (MSP). The above services also include the provision of recharging services per se 
and directly related or accompanying value-added features (indicatively, charging speed, ease of use and charging, 
ease of accessibility, parking services, etc.). 

xi. The acquisition of ownership, development, installation, operation, exploitation, technical maintenance and repair 
of E/V charging infrastructures, for which electricity can be procured for the purpose of providing E/V charging 
services as well as the management, control and supervision of these infrastructures, in Greece and/or abroad in 
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private and/or public parking areas, in accordance with the definitions of Law 4710/2020 and specifically of the 
Charging Infrastructure Owner and the Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Operator (E.V.C.I.O.). 

xii. The development and operation of information infrastructures to facilitate the exchange of information and the 
processing of financial transactions between E.V.C.I.O. or between M.S.P. or between E.V.C.I.O. and M.S.P., to 
achieve the interoperability of charging infrastructures, in accordance with the definitions of Law 4710/2020 and in 
particular the definition of "Transaction Processing Agency (T.P.A)". 

On April 29, 2022, an extraordinary General Assembly of the Company was held, which approved an amendment of the 
Company’s purpose with new activities. These activities related to the provision of electric mobility services such as the 
development, operation, management, repair, and maintenance of electric vehicle charging infrastructure. 

To fulfill the above purpose, the Company may: 

i. Establish, with or without the participation of third-party physical or legal entities, or to participate in any business 
of any corporate type, with a similar or relevant purpose, in a broadly defined sense, in Greece and / or abroad. 

ii. Cooperate with any physical or legal entities in any way in Greece and / or abroad and enter into any agreements 
or contracts, of any kind. 

iii. Develop any kind of financial activity for the purpose of achieving its goals (e.g. lending, issuing bills of exchange, 
checks, banknotes, bonds, pledges and other debt securities or documents incorporating debt, etc.). 

iv. Lease, sublease, buy or sell or otherwise acquire or transfer real estate or movable property or rights or reestablish 
collateral or other rights. 

v. Make use of funding programs and tools, in particular those offered by the European Union and its associated 
agencies. 

vi. Perform technical, financial, organizational studies related to the construction, operation, organization, 
management, maintenance of any form of telecommunications facility, unit or structural projects including any 
related construction. 

GRID TELECOM's registered office is located at 89, Dyrrachiou and Kifissou str, 104-43, Athens, Greece, and its duration 
has been extended to 35 years, from 20 years that was initially set, from the date of its registration in the Commerce 
Register and its Commerce Register number is 148802001000. 

b) Administration principles and internal management systems 

The administration bodies of the Company are the General Assembly of shareholders and the Board of Directors. The 
Board of Directors is elected, appointed and controlled by General Assembly of shareholders. 

c) Description of performance and tangible and intangible assets 
 
Financial overview of year 2024 

Sales during the 2024 financial year increased significantly to Euro 3.961.592 from Euro 2.382.007 last year and reflect 
deliveries of fiber optic infrastructure, capacity services and co-location services. The Company's total revenue also 
represent profits resulting from the derecognition of rights of use assets and their subleasing to customers, as well as 
financial revenues related to the leasing of optical fibers to customers. The revenue from operation and maintenance 
services increased to Euro 291.603 compared to Euro 237.919 in the previous year, incorporating equally the addition 
of sales established in the second half of the year ended December 31, 2023 and new ones recognized during the year 
ended December 31, 2024. Additionally, Euro 525.313 from capacity services and Euro 196.479 from colocation services 
were recognized during 2024 compared to Euro 150.417 and Euro 104.934, respectively, in the year ended December 
31, 2023. The significant increase for these two sales categories is related to the progress of the construction of the 
DWDM network and the development of points of presence (PoPs) through which the mentioned services are provided. 
Financial income from fiber optic lease for the year ended 31 December 2024 was Euro 422.487 compared to Euro 
429.054 in the previous year. 

With reference to the subleasing to customers, of part of the optical fiber network that the Company leased from IPTO 
S.A. and in accordance with the provisions of IFRS, a profit of Euro 2.948.197 was recognized in the year ended 
December 31, 2024 (2023: Euro 1.888.737) and is included in other income. This amount represents the difference 
between the amortized value of the derecognized right-of-use asset (lease from IPTO S.A.) and the financial receivable 
(sublease to customers). The Company's other income includes, in addition, an amount of Euro 75.000 (2023: Euro 
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419.249) from the re-invoicing to TERNA FIBER SA of costs related to the project "Ultra High Broadband Infrastructure 
- ULTRA FAST BROADBAND through PPP" ("UFBB"). 

Operating expenses amounted to Euro 3.064.804 compared to Euro 2.167.296 in the previous year with the increase 
mainly due to a) higher depreciation costs related to investments completed for the installation of the DWDM network 
and points of presence (PoPs), b) maintenance services of optical fiber infrastructure and DWDM equipment as well as 
cost of electricity c) decreased of the income related to UFBB reinvoicing costs. Finally, the increase in operating 
expenses includes higher operation and maintenance costs to the parent company related to new fiber optic 
infrastructure leases. 

The above changes resulted in a 167,4% increase in Earnings before Interest, Taxes and Depreciation (EBITDA) which 
amounted to Euro 1.786.312 compared to Euro 667.843 in the previous year. 

The financial condition of the Company as at 31/12/2024 is considered satisfactory. On the same date, the Company's 
equity amounted to Euro 16.910.400. 

For the year 1.1.2024 – 31.12.2024 and 1.1.2023 – 31.12.2023 the key financial accounts of the Company were as 
follows: 
 

  
1/1/2024-

31/12/2024   
1/1/2023-

31/12/2023 
Total income 3.961.592          2.382.007  
Earnings Before Interest Tax and Depreciation (EBITDA) 1.786.312               667.843   
Earnings before tax 716.938             224.287  
Net income 545.470              171.958  

Cash flows 

The cash inflows during the year ended 31 December 2024 mainly reflect the collection of financial income and 
receivables from the lease of fiber optics, while the outflows mainly relate to asset investments, operating expenses of 
the Company, as well as the payments of lease liabilities. At the end of the fiscal year 2024 the cash position of the 
Company was Euro 7.862.445 compared to Euro 10.994.095 at the end of the previous year. In December 2024, the 
Company maintained three bank accounts with the National Bank of Greece. 

Dividend policy 

Pursuant to article 24 of the articles of association, the distribution of net profits and the payment of a dividend shall be 
occur in accordance with the provisions of the law, as it stands in effect. 

The Board of Directors of the Company approved the Financial Statements for the fiscal year 2024, on April 16th, 2025 
and proposed to the General Meeting of shareholders the non-distribution of dividends for the fiscal year ended on 
December 31, 2024. 

Tangible and intangible assets 

As of December 31, 2024 the Company’s net book value of all its investments amounted to Euro 9.408.272 (31/12/2023: 
Euro 7.672.863) incorporating additions for the fiscal year of Euro 2.189.059 (31/12/2023: Euro 4.818.017) for the 
continued expansion of telecommunication nodes and the development of points of presence locations for colocation 
services in different regions of Greece. Τhe Company also maintains right-of-use assets and fiber optic network 
infrastructure of net value Euro 5.038.522 (31/12/2023: Euro 5.200.021) incorporating additions for the fiscal year of 
Euro 165.396 (31/12/2023: Euro 3.564.014) acquired from the Parent company for the DWDM network development 
and operation and from third-party suppliers for the expansion of the fiber optic network in the metropolitan area of 
the Attica region, the Peloponnese region and the Cyclades prefecture. 
 
2. Significant projects completed in 2024 or ongoing 
 
In 2024, GRID TELECOM provided services and access to dark fiber with long-term IRU leases to major 
telecommunications providers (Mantoudi-Skiathos, Chania-Neapoli-Megalopoli-Tripoli, Chania Neapoli-Sparta, and a 
backbone network in Central Greece) for a total length of 1829 km, of which 301 km are submarine. At the same time, 
the physical co-location spaces allocated to telecommunications providers increased in order to install their active 
equipment. In addition, the configuration of new spaces and the installation of prefabricated telecommunications 
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shelters were developed to create new points of presence according to customer needs in new network sections 
(Peloponnese, Crete, Thrace). 
At the same time, leased circuit capacities of corporate customers and providers over the DWDM Network exceeding 
800 Gb/s were implemented, marking an increase of almost 100% compared to 2023 (2023: 480 Gb/s), offering high-
quality service with high availability (>99.5%). 
With nationwide access to a constantly expanding network of fiber optic cables over 6,000 kilometers long, GRID 
TELECOM has a large number of alternative routes, ensuring high service availability for its customers. In 2024, GRID 
TELECOM further engaged in providing high capacities with ultra-high interconnection speeds between the country's 
major urban centers. In terms of DWDM Network expansion, the protection of the DWDM metropolitan ring in Attica 
was completed with a presence in 14 Points of Presence (PoPs), ensuring the highest possible availability of the services 
offered. 
The implementation of Phase III of the DWDM Network continued with the expansion of the footprint in Eastern 
Macedonia and Thrace. In the same time, the DWDM Network Expansion Plan was prepared for Crete incorporating 3 
new PoPs (TI Sparkle Chania, Damasta and DLR Heraklion) in its design. 
During the year, new value-added services were added such as Direct Internet Access (DIA), Internet Feed, and antenna 
system hosting, helping to integrate well-known companies into the Company's clientele. 
Regarding its international presence, Grid Telecom expanded its network in Western Europe, acquiring the 
ability to deliver cable capacity to neutral data centers in London, Frankfurt, Marseille, Amsterdam and Paris. 
Finally, the potential collaboration with providers from Bulgaria is important with the aim of expanding our network in 
the neighboring country. 
 
3. Major risks 
 
The Company is constantly monitoring developments with the aim of limiting as much as possible the potential adverse 
effects that may result from various events. 

a. Future prospects and how these are affected by the existing regulatory framework 

Risk of decline in demand 

GRID TELECOM takes advantage of the nationwide fiber optic network IPTO S.A. has in place to promote 
telecommunications services in the domestic and international market. This optical network has a large number of 
alternative routes, which ensure high availability of services to customers. Due to the profile of potential customers of 
the Group and the Company and the nature of the telecommunications market activity which is characterized by strong 
growth, demand is not expected to decline in the near future. 

b. Other risks related to the activity or the sector in which the Company operates 

Risks related to the sector in which the Company operates 

Considering the Greek state holds (directly or indirectly) 51% of the share capital of the parent company IPTO S.A., GRID 
TELECOM as a 100% subsidiary of IPTO S.A. may be considered, in certain areas, as a Greek public sector company. 
Consequently, its operations will continue to be subject to laws and regulations applicable to companies in the Greek 
public sector that affect specific procedures. Indicatively, and not restrictively, those relating to remuneration, pay 
ceilings, and procurement procedures. 

Nonetheless, the Company’s business sector is completely different from that of its regulated Parent entity’s and is 
characterized by complete competitiveness as a free market. Consequently, the main risk is therefore the risk of 
competition, as the market involves established companies in the sector. This risk is largely offset by the Company’s 
access to the IPTO S.A.  network which is characterized by high penetration, excellent quality and increased safety. 
Features that are considered attractive and essential by interested customers. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is associated with the need for adequate financing for the operation and development of the Company. 
The Company manages its liquidity risk by monitoring and scheduling its cash flows, and acting appropriately by 
securing adequate cash levels, seeking long-term relationships with its customers. The Company ensures efficient and 
low-risk placement of cash keeping cash available for investments specified in its business plan. 

As at 31.12.2024 the current assets exceeded the current liabilities by Euro 6.755.051. 
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Credit risk 

Credit risk arises when the failure of counterparties to meet their obligations could reduce the amount of future cash 
inflows from financial assets at the balance sheet date. For the trade receivables arising from the long-term leases, the 
Company is exposed to credit risk, in case it does not ensure the collection of its customers' receivables. In this context, 
the Company acts by seeking advance payments of part of the total future receivables, advance payment agreements 
for future receivables, securing letters of guarantee of good payment and recognizing customer risk provisions in its 
results. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair values of the cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuate due to foreign currency 
changes. Currency risk is insignificant for the Company and relates mainly to any potential agreements for the supply 
of materials or equipment whose payment is in foreign currency. As at December 31, 2024, the Company had not 
entered into any material or equipment supply contract and has no assets or liabilities in foreign currency. 

Risk of changes in taxation and other regulations 

With regard to the obligations introduced by law 5164/2024 for the fiscal year 2024 and in accordance with the 
provisions of document no. 17603/27-02-2025 of the Department of Institutional Regulations of Companies with the 
Subject: "Clarifications on questions regarding the obligations of public interest entities under paragraph 12 of article 
2 of law 4548/2018, following its amendment by article 3 of law 5164/2024", it is concluded that the Company is not 
obliged to establish an audit committee, nor to prepare and publish a sustainability report for the fiscal year 2024. 
 
Possible modification of tax and other regulations may have an impact on the financial results of the Company. This 
impact is not expected to be significant for the Company. 
 
4. Environmental issues 
 
The Company recognizes the need for continuous improvement of its environmental performance and compliance with 
laws and international standards and aims at a balanced economic development in harmony with the natural 
environment. Following a path of sustainable development, it carries out its activities in a way that ensures 
environmental protection. Management considers that there are currently no conditions for the recognition of 
provisions for environmental liabilities. 
 
5. Labor issues 
 
a) Diversity and equal opportunities policy (regardless of gender, religion, disadvantage or other aspects) 

Promoting equal opportunities and protecting diversity are fundamental principles of the Company. Company’s 
Management does not discriminate in recruitment / selection, remuneration, training, job assignment or any other job 
activity. The factors that are exclusively taken into account in Management responsibilities are the experience, 
personality, theoretical training, qualifications, efficiency and competences of the individual. The Company encourages 
and recommends all its employees to respect the diversity of each employee or supplier or customer of the Company 
and not to accept any behavior that may be discriminatory in any form. The Company had one employee as of December 
31, 2024 with fixed-term contract. 

b) Respect for workers’ rights and trade union freedom 

The Company respects the rights of its employees, ensures the maintenance and enhancement of a work peace climate 
and observes labor laws. 

 

c) Health and safety at work 

Employee safety is a top priority and a prerequisite for the operation of the Company. In this context, the Company has 
contracted with the provision of technical security services as defined and provided by provisions Law 3850/2010 to 
ensure and support obligations by the written provisions for health and safety of employees 

The Company maintains in all workplaces "first aid" materials (medicines, bandages, etc.) 
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d) Recruitment process, training, promotions 

The selection and recruitment procedures are based on the qualifications required for the position, without 
discrimination and based on the approved personnel policy. The purpose of this policy is to promote harmonious 
cooperation between employees and the Company. With the firm and fundamental principle that human resources are 
the most important source for the Company’s competitive advantage and with the main focus on the provision of high 
quality technical services, emphasis is placed on the existence of appropriate infrastructure, Management procedures 
and ongoing training of human resources. This ensures that each position is filled by people who have the appropriate 
knowledge and skills. Additional emphasis is placed in shaping a culture that promotes honest communication, team 
spirit, flexibility and creativity. At the same time, the Company educates and trains its staff, on a regular basis, due to 
the special professional requirements and operational or individual needs. In addition, the evaluation of staff is based 
on an approved staff policy depending on the results and skills of each employee. 
 
6. Financial key performance indicators (KPIs) 
 
The main financial indicators of the Company for the year 2024 and 2023, respectively, are as follows: 
 
 

Financial structure ratios  
1/1/2024-

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023- 

31/12/2023 
Current assets 

= 41,15%  50,79% Total assets 
     
Non-current assets 

= 58,85% 
 

49,21% Total assets 

The above indicators show the ratio of capital available to current and fixed assets. 
 
Equity 

= 95,14% 
 

89,77%% Total liabilities 
 
The above indicator shows the financial adequateness of the Company. 
 
Total liabilities 

= 51,25% 
 

52,69% Total equity and liabilities 
     
Equity 

= 48,75% 
 

47,31% Total equity and liabilities 

The above indicators show the debt dependence of the Company. 
 
Equity 

= 82,84% 
 

96,12% Non-current assets 

This indicator shows the degree of funding of the assets of the Company from equity. 
 
Current assets 

= 189,85% 
 

199,03% Current liabilities 

The above indicator shows the Company’s general liquidity. 
 

Profitability Ratios   
1/1/2024-

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023-

31/12/2023 
Profit before tax 

= 4,24%  1,37% Total equity 

This indicator shows the Company’s profitability of equity. 
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7. Future development of the Company 
 
Prospects for 2025 

For 2025, GRID TELECOM will complete the Phase III of the DWDM Network implementation as well as the 
implementation of Phase VII of the DWDM Network in Crete. The goal is to implement alternative routing from all GRID 
TELECOM DWDM node points of presence in Crete. To achieve this, it is necessary to use the Damasta-Korakia-Pachi-
Koumoundourou submarine link, utilizing the already installed Apollo system. The implementation and use of this 
topology can also be used as a platform for servicing International Transit capacities. 

The development of the DWDM network in Bulgaria through cooperation with a local provider for the lease of an optical 
pair is considered decisive, with the aim of acquiring at least one point of presence in Sofia by the end of 2025. 

Finally, the enrichment of the optical infrastructure is considered and is of strategic importance for the Company's 
course, especially in the metropolitan area of Athens but also where there is no optical infrastructure from the existing 
available network. To this end, the Company is exploring, on the one hand, strategic cooperation for the construction 
of terrestrial sections of optical infrastructure and, on the other hand, the leasing of IRU optical fibers in an existing 
trench and on selected routes within Athens in order to shorten the Time to Market parameter to the satisfaction of its 
potential customers. 
Participation in the construction of joint submarine fiber optic cables in the Mediterranean (Andromeda, Middle East - 
Europe) and the development of corresponding cable landing stations in Crete, Attica and Cyprus are being evaluated. 
At the same time, the Company's possible involvement in other submarine cables (between Greece - Italy, and Greece 
- Turkey) is being investigated, while the goal is the implementation and delivery of cable capacity to neutral data centers 
abroad, to which the delivery capability was acquired during 2024. 
 
8. Company activity in the field of research & development 
 
The Company did not incur expenses in the field of "research and development" in 2024. 
 
9. Information regarding the acquisition of treasury shares as provided in article 52 of Law 4548/2108 
 
No treasury shares were acquired neither during the fiscal year 2024 nor in previous fiscal periods. 
 
10. Company branches 
 
The Company has not founded any branches. 
 
11. Use of financial instruments 
 
The Company does not use financial instruments. 
 
12. Significant transactions with related parties  
 
The Company's Financial Statements are consolidated by the parent company INDEPENDENT POWER TRANSMISSION 
OPERATOR S.A. (IPTO S.A.), using the full consolidation method, which participates directly with a 100% stake in its share 
capital on 31/12/2024. 

The Company is indirectly controlled by the Greek State through the parent IPTO S.A.. The share capital of IPTO S.A. is 
controlled by 51% from IPTO Holdings S.A. and by 25% from DES IPTO S.A. which are controlled by the Greek State. 

Below is a list of the Group's affiliated companies: 
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Company  Relation 
IPTO SA  Parent 
ARIADNI INTERCONNECTION SA  Affiliated 
ENERGY EXCHANGE GROUP  Affiliated 
ENERGY STOCK EXCHANGE CLEARING COMPANY S.A. (EnExClear 

S.A.) 
 Affiliated 

SEleNe CC  Affiliated 
IPTO HOLDING SA  Affiliated 
P.H.V. A.D.M.I.E. (I.P.T.O.) S.A.  Affiliated 
STATE GRID LTD  Affiliated 
TERNA FIBER S.A.  Affiliated 
TRAINING CENTER IPTO S.M.S.A.  Affiliated 
GREAT SEA INTERCONNECTOR S.A.  Affiliated 
SAUDI GREEK INTERCONNECTION S.A.  Affiliated 
 
 
a) Transactions with related parties 
 
Related party transactions refer to the provision and purchase of services in the normal course of business. The aggregate 
amounts of transactions with related parties from the beginning of the year under IAS 24, are as follows: 
 

Intercompany sales of services 
1/1/2024 - 

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023 - 

31/12/2023 
IPTO S.A. 91.091  - 
Σύνολο 91.091  - 
 
 

Revenue from other related companies 
1/1/2024 - 

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023 - 

31/12/2023 
TERNA FIBER S.A. 75.000 

 
419.249 

Total 75.000 
 

419.249 
 
 

Intercompany purchase of services 
1/1/2024 - 

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023 - 

31/12/2023 
IPTO S.A. 1.097.054 

 
742.816 

Total 1.097.054 
 

742.816 
 
IPTO services refer mainly to optical fiber maintenance costs, utility costs, maintenance services, IT services and 
accounting services. 
 
b) Balances with related parties 
 
The closings balances of receivables and liabilities for the fiscal year, which have resulted from transactions with related 
parties under IAS 24, are as follows: 
 
Receivables and accrued receivables 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Intercompany    
IPTO S.A. 172.165 

 
84.285 

Other related companies    
TERNA FIBER S.A. 526.942  451.942 
Total 699.107 

 
536.227 
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Intercompany payables and accrued payables 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
IPTO S.A. 8.432.854 

 
7.525.373 

Obligations to Board members -  - 
Total 8.432.854 

 
7.525.373 

 
The Company’s transactions with related parties have been carried out under normal market conditions. 
 
13. Management remuneration 
 
The Board of Directors’ members remuneration, social security contributions and representation expenses inclusive, for 
the year ended at 31st of December 2024, for the Company amount to Euro 210.887 (2023: Euro 107.976). 

The are no receivables or liabilities from / to Company’s members of the Board of Directors on 31st of December 2024. 

The executives of the Company have not received leaving indemnity during 2024. 
 
14. Applied key accounting principles 
 
For the preparation of the statements of financial position for the fiscal year, as well as the income statement and other 
comprehensive income, equity and cash flow statements, the accounting policies as set forth by the Parent company 
were applied and detailed in the financial statements. 
 
15. Other issues 
 
The Company has no foreign exchange currency. 

There are no encumbrances, as the Company has no property. 
 
16. Significant events 
 
On December 13, 2024, GRID TELECOM announced an electronic tender for the project "Configuration of electric vehicle 
charging stations in areas of Greece". The total budget of the project is Euro 11.700.000, plus VAT. The deadline for 
submitting bids expired on January 23, 2025 and the tender process is in the phase of selecting a provisional contractor. 
 

17. Events after the reporting period 
 

There are no events subsequent to the Financial Statements, which concern the Company and which are required to be 
reported by the International Financial Reporting Standards 
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Following this Report, we kindly request that you: 

 

1. Approve the Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the 
Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows, the summary of key accounting policies and methods 
and other explanatory information of the Company for financial year 2024 (financial year 1/1/2024 - 31/12/2024), 

2. Release the members of the Board of Directors and auditors from all liability for the operations of financial year 
2024, 

3. Approve the distribution of profits as follows: formation of the statutory reserve amount of Euro 27.273, the non-
distribution of dividends and transfer of the remaining profits of the fiscal year of Euro 518.197 to the "Retained 
Earnings" account, 

4. Appoint for the financial year 2025 an audit firm to carry out the statutory audit of the year. 

 

 

Athens, April 16th, 2025 

 

 

For the Board of Directors 

 

 
______________________ 

     
_________________ 

 

 Executive BoD Chairman & 
General Director 

     Member of the BoD  

 
Konstantinos Agathakis 

     
Georgios Psyrris 
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IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

AS ADOPTED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION  

 

 

The attached Financial Statements have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company « GRID TELECOM 
SINGLE MEMBER S.A. » on 16 of April 2025 and they have been posted on the web site https://www.grid-
telecom.com. 

 

Athens, April 16th, 2025 

 

EXECUTIVE BoD CHAIRMAN & 
GENERAL DIRECTOR 

 
 

MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS 

 
 

CHIEF ACCOUNTANT 
 
 

________________ ________________ __________________ 

K. AGATHAKIS GEORGIOS PSIRIS S. KOLOMVOS 

ID No Χ 075895 ID No ΑZ 096291 Class A’ ID No 0139710 

   

https://www.grid-telecom.com/
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INCOME STATEMENT 
 

 
    

Note  
1/1/2024- 

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023- 

31/12/2023* 
Revenue          
Optic fiber maintenance revenue     4  291.603  237.919 
IRU capacity revenue     4  525.313  150.417 
Co-location service revenue     4  196.479  104.934 
Revenue from other operations     5   2.948.197  1.888.737 
Total revenue       3.961.592  2.382.007 

          
Expenses/(Other income)          
Payroll costs       234.935  234.389 
Third party services     8  324.020   188.216  
Third party fees     7  1.663.355  1.608.452 
Other taxes - duties       16.667  17.309 
Depreciation and amortization     13,14  889.524  453.131 
Provisions for impairment/(Reverse)       23.751  21.579 
Other income     6  (181.501)  (432.229) 
Other expenses     9  94.054  76.267 
Total       3.064.804  2.167.296 

          
Profit before tax and financial results       896.788  214.711 

          
Finance expenses     10  (602.337)  (419.478) 
Finance income     11  422.487  429.054 
Profit before tax       716.938  224.287 
Income tax     12  (171.468)  (52.328) 
Profit for the year after tax       545.470  171.958 

 
 
 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

  
              1/1/2024- 

31/12/2024  
1/1/2024- 

31/12/2024 
Profit for the year after tax                545.4770  171.958 
Other comprehensive income                -  - 
Total comprehensive income (loss) 
after taxes  

              
545.470  171.958 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*Reclassifications have been made to the comparative figures of specific items for comparability purposes (analysis in Note 
32). 
The notes on pages 23 to 56 are an integral part of these Financial Statements.  
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

      Note  31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
ASSETS           
Non – current assets:           
Property, plant and equipment      13  9.348.275     7.650.117 
Intangible assets      14  23.949   22.745    
Right of use assets      15  5.038.522   5.200.021    
Investments in associates and joint ventures      16  49.900  49.900    
Deferred tax assets      17  -    9.540    
Other non-current assets       19  2.435.237     504.944    
Long-term receivables for optic fiber lease      18  3.480.606  3.587.638 
Total non – current assets        20.412.537           17.024.905 
           
Current assets:           
Trade receivables      20  4.079.443            2.147.854    
Other receivables      21     527.300        2.120.282    
Short-term receivables for optic fiber lease      18   1.983.649      2.307.314    
Cash and cash equivalents      22  7.682.445      10.994.095    
Total current assets        14.272.836     17.569.545    
           
Total Assets        34.685.373        34.594.450    
           
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES           
Equity:           
Share capital      23               15.038.300      15.038.300    
Legal reserve      24                     103.493     103.493    
Retained earnings        1.768.607       1.223.137    
Total equity                    16.910.400        16.364.929    
           
Non – current liabilities:           
Long-term lease liabilities      25                 6.659.773     6.352.961    
Government grants      26                  3.000.000      3.000.000    
Deferred tax liabilities      12  12.890  - 
Other non-current liabilities      27                     584.526     48.816    

Total non-current                        
10.257.188     9.401.777    

           
Current liabilities:           
Trade and other payables      28                  5.278.637     6.417.878    
Short-term lease liabilities      25  1.305.767  1.004.019    
Income tax payable                              97.800       109.760    
Accrued and other current liabilities                           316.577     137.695    
Deferred income      29                     519.274     1.158.392    
Total current liabilities                        7.517.785     8.827.744    
Total liabilities                      17.774.973   18.229.521    
           
Total Equity and Liabilities        34.685.373    34.594.450    

 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 23 to 56 are an integral part of these Financial Statements.  
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

 Share Capital  Legal Reserve  Retained Earnings  Total equity 
Balance 1/1/2023 5.300.000  92.278  1.120.822  6.513.101 
Profit for the year after tax -  -  171.958  171.958 
Other comprehensive income for 
the year -  -  -  - 
Total comprehensive income for 
the year, after taxes -  -  171.958  171.958 
Share capital increase 9.738.300  -  -  9.738.300 
Share issue transaction costs -  -  (58.430)  (58.430) 
Legal reserve for the year -  11.214  (11.214)  - 
Balance 31/12/2023 15.038.300  103.493  1.223.137  16.364.929 
        
Balance 1/1/2024 15.038.300  103.493  1.223.137  16.364.929 
Profit for the year after tax -  -  545.470  545.470 
Other comprehensive income for 
the year -  -  -  - 
Total comprehensive income for 
the year, after taxes -  -  545.470  545.470 
Balance 31/12/2024 15.038.300  103.493  1.718.707  16.910.400 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 23 to 56 are an integral part of these Financial Statements.  
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 
 

 
       Note  1/1/2024- 

31/12/2024  1/1/2023- 
31/12/2023 

Cash flows from operating activities             
Profit before tax          716.938  224.287 
Adjustments to:             

Depreciation / amortization of PPE, intangible 
assets and right of use assets        13,14, 

15  889.524  452.674 

Provisions for impairment          23.751  21.759 
Interest and other finance income        11  (422.487)  (429.054) 
(Gain) / Loss on right of use assets 
derecognition        5  (2.948.197)  (1.888.737) 

Interest and other finance expense        10  602.337  419.478 
Operating loss before changes in working 
capital          (1.138.134)  (1.199.592) 

             

(Increase)/decrease in:             

Trade receivables          (4.636.426)  319.424 
Other receivables          3.293.788  (1.787.048) 

Increase/decrease) in:             

Trade payables          757.383  1.965.973 
Other payables and accrued expenses          46.203  1.180.855 
Payments of Income Tax          (83.621)  (101.911) 
Net cash flows from operating activities          (1.760.807)  377.701 
             

Cash flows from Investing activities             

Additions to fixed assets          (2.951.387)  (3.400.352) 
Grants received          -  3.000.000 
Lease receivables proceeds          1.833.293  291.392 
Interest received          471.392  322.273 
Net cash flows from Investing activities          (646.703)  213.313 
             

Cash flows from financing activities             

Proceeds from issue of shares          -  9.738.300 
Share issue transaction costs          -  (58.430) 
Lease payable payments          (313.435)  (169.910) 
Interest paid          (590.706)  (242.276) 
Net cash flows from financing activities          (904.141)  9.267.684 
             
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash 
equivalents           (3.311.651)  9.858.698 

Cash and cash equivalents, opening balance          10.994.095  1.135.397 
Cash and cash equivalents, closing balance          7.682.445  10.994.095 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 23 to 56 are an integral part of these Financial Statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
GRID TELECOM SINGLE MEMBER SOCIETE ANONYME (or “GRID TELECOM” or “Company”) was incorporated on January 
14th, 2019 and is controlled by INDEPENDENT POWER TRANSMISSION OPERATOR S.A. ,(“IPTO S.A.”, or “Parent company”), 
The Company' s share capital amounts to Euro 15.038.300 and it has been paid in full. The Company as a subsidiary of IPTO 
S.A., is consolidated under the full consolidation method: 

a) The provision of electronic communications services, products and integrated services / solutions, as well as 
broadband access. 

b) Installation, operation, exploitation, management and development of any kind of electronic communications 
networks and any kind of electronic communications infrastructure and related services, in local, national, cross-
border and international level. 

c) The development, installation, operation, management and exploitation of all types of mobile and fixed 
communication services. 

d) Undertaking activities related to the provision of electronic communications services, telecommunications, 
including system design, as well as the development, production, use, sale, rental, leasing and maintenance of 
telecommunications equipment. 

e) The acquisition of ownership of equipment and media for the provision of services that fall within the scope of the 
Company and the acquisition of ownership, use or exploitation rights through purchase, lease or otherwise of 
movable or immovable property or rights. 

f) The development, installation, operation, management and exploitation of new services, based on technological 
developments in the fields of telecommunications, information technology, multimedia and Internet, as well as any 
other service that may be provided through the Company's network or other networks in the which the Company 
has or may have access to. 

g) The provision of electronic data processing services, databases and internet services. 

h) The provision of leased or subleased lines and network and leasing of capacity. 

i) The provision of consulting services or services related to line / network operations, to companies affiliated with 
the Company, operating domestically or abroad. 

j) The provision of electric mobility services to users of electric vehicles (E/V), related to the recharging and pricing of 
electric mobility, the optimal service of E/V users, indicatively through finding available charging and navigation 
points, reserving seats, but also with services in general, such as fleet management of E/V vehicles and their 
provision to E/V users, in accordance with the definitions of Law 4710/2020 and in particular the definition of the 
Electric Mobility Service Provider (MSP). The above services also include the provision of recharging services per se 
and directly related or accompanying value-added features (indicatively, charging speed, ease of use and charging, 
ease of accessibility, parking services, etc.). 

k) The acquisition of ownership, development, installation, operation, exploitation, technical maintenance and repair 
of E/V charging infrastructures, for which electricity can be procured for the purpose of providing E/V charging 
services as well as the management, control and supervision of these infrastructures, in Greece and/or abroad in 
private and/or public parking areas, in accordance with the definitions of Law 4710/2020 and specifically of the 
Charging Infrastructure Owner and the Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Operator (E.V.C.I.O.) 

l) The development and operation of information infrastructures to facilitate the exchange of information and the 
processing of financial transactions between E.V.C.I.O. or between M.S.P. or between E.V.C.I.O. and M.S.P., to 
achieve the interoperability of charging infrastructures, in accordance with the definitions of Law 4710/2020 and 
in particular the definition of "Transaction Processing Agency (T.P.A)". 

On April 29, 2022, an extraordinary General Assembly of the Company was held, which approved an amendment of the 
Company’s purpose with new activities, These activities related to the provision of electric mobility services such as the 
development, operation, management, repair, and maintenance of electric vehicle charging infrastructure. 

To fulfill the above purpose, the Company may: 
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a) Establish, with or without the participation of third-party physical or legal entities, or to participate in any business 
of any corporate type, with a similar or relevant purpose, in a broadly defined sense, in Greece and/or abroad. 

b) Cooperate with any physical or legal entities in any way in Greece and / or abroad and enter into any agreements 
or contracts, of any kind. 

c) Develop any kind of financial activity for the purpose of achieving its goals (e,g, lending, issuing bills of exchange, 
checks, banknotes, bonds, pledges and other debt securities or documents incorporating debt, etc,), 

d) Lease, sublease, buy or sell or otherwise acquire or transfer real estate or movable property or rights or establish 
collateral or other rights. 

e) Make use of funding programs and tools, in particular those offered by the European Union and its associated 
agencies. 

f) Perform technical, financial, organizational studies related to the construction, operation, organization, 
management, maintenance of any form of telecommunications facility, unit or structural projects including any 
related construction. 

GRID TELECOM's registered office is located at 89, Dyrrachiou and Kifissou str, 104-43, Athens, Greece, and its duration 
has been extended to 35 years, from 20 years that was initially set, from the date of its registration in the Commerce 
Register, its Commerce Register number is 148802001000. On December 31st, 2024, the Company had one employee 
with fixed-term contract. 
 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ESSENTIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Statement of compliance 

The Financial Statements for year ended December 31st, 2024, (the “Financial Statements”) have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB), and in accordance with their interpretations as issued by the commission, IASB Interpretations and 
standards have been adopted by the European Union (“EU”) and are mandatory for financial years starting as of January 
1st,2024 or later. 

2.1.1 APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Board of Directors of the Company approved Annual Financial Statements (the “Financial Statements”) of the year 
2024, on April 16th, 2025. The Financial Statements are subject to approval by the Annual General Meeting.  

2.1.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost principle and the going concern principle. The 
Financial Statements are presented in Euros and all amounts are rounded to the nearest unit unless otherwise stated. 
Any differences in the tables are due to roundings. 

2.1.3 GOING CONCERN 

Risk of the macroeconomic and corporate environment 

Currently prevailing economic conditions are stable. Following high inflation of the past years, conditions in Greece are 
normalized. Yet several uncertainties, driven by global developments, may impact on the future outlook. 

2024 was another challenging year for business due to geopolitical risks and economic challenges. The ongoing conflicts 
in the Middle East, the Russia-Ukraine war and instability in maritime trade routes-maintained supply chains under 
pressure, while the high cost of money and inflationary pressures shaped a difficult international environment. 
Developments in the international economic and geopolitical environment, particularly in the United States, directly 
affect trade flows and business strategies, creating both opportunities and challenges. 

The increase in geopolitical tensions is causing increasing concern for the markets and the economy. The energy crisis 
led to a significant increase in energy prices, an increase in food prices, as well as an adjustment of monetary policy in a 
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more restrictive direction, which led to a slower growth rate in 2024. According to the forecasts of the Hellenic Fiscal 
Council, the growth rate of the Greek economy for 2024 was expected to be 2,6%, while ultimately the growth of the 
Greek economy for 2024 closed approximately to 2,3%. However, the effective use of the resources of the long-term EU 
budget 2021-2027 and the European recovery instrument NextGenerationEU can mitigate the negative effects of the 
energy crisis and the tightening of monetary policy on the Greek economy, leading in the medium term to growth rate 
close to 2,3% in 2025. 

Going concern principle 
 
The Financial Statements have been prepared under the going concern principle. 
 
2.2 ESSENTIAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS OF MANAGEMENT 

The preparation of Financial Statements requires Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Financial 
Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Management's estimates 
and judgments are reviewed annually. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The principle judgments and 
estimates referring to events the development of which could significantly affect the items of the Financial Statements 
during the forthcoming period are as follows: 

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and legal cases 

Management periodically reassess the adequacy of allowance for doubtful accounts receivable following an expected 
credit losses (‘ECLs’) approach. At each reporting date, the expected loss rate is assessed on the basis of historical credit 
losses adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information. ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, taking into consideration reports 
from its legal department. 

For the allowance of legal cases, Management assesses the probability of negative outcome, as well as possible payment 
amounts for their settlement. Provision for contingent receivables is not raised. 

Useful lives - Depreciation rates 

The Company’s assets are depreciated over their estimated remaining useful lives. These useful lives are periodically 
reassessed to determine whether the original useful life continues to be appropriate. The actual lives of these tangible 
assets can vary depending on a variety of factors such as technological innovation and maintenance programs. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not 
be recoverable. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken. Management estimates the expected future cash flows 
from the asset or the cash-generating unit and chooses a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value 
of those cash flows. 

Classification of IRU contracts (as leases or services)  

When entering into contract for the use of capacity on fiber optic cable, Management considers whether the portion of 
the capacity used is an identified asset by evaluating whether this portion represents substantially all of the capacity of 
the fiber optic cable and therefore gives the Company the right to acquire substantially all economic benefits from its 
use. In the event that this evaluation shows that it does not obtain substantially all the economic benefits from the use 
of the fiber optic cable, then the contract for the use of capacity is classified as a contract for the provision of services. 

Income tax and deferred tax 

Income tax for the current year is measured at the amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities, using the tax 
rates that have been enacted by the Statement of Financial Position’s date. The income tax includes the current income 
tax for each fiscal year arising from the income tax return and the deferred income tax. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized on potential tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will occur to offset the 
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losses. Deferred tax assets that may be recognized require Management to make assessments as to the time and level 
of realization of future taxable profits. 

2.3 ESSENTIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Below are accounting policies for the most significant transactions that the Company conducted in the fiscal year 2024 
or is expected to conduct during its operating period, for the purpose of completeness in informing users of the Financial 
Statements. 

2.3.1 Joint agreements 

Joint arrangements are classified as either joint ventures or joint ventures, depending on the contractual rights and 
obligations of each investor. 

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, whereby the Company's interest in the joint venture is initially 
recognized at cost and then adjusted by the Company's share of post-acquisition profits or losses and changes in other 
comprehensive income. When the Company's share of post-acquisition losses equals or exceeds the acquisition cost, 
the Company does not recognize further losses unless it has assumed obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
joint venture. Unrealized gains related to transactions between the Company and the joint ventures are eliminated in 
the percentage of the Company's participation in the joint venture. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction is indicative of impairment of the asset being transferred. The accounting principles of the joint venture 
entities are modified where necessary to ensure consistency with the Company's accounting principles. 

Joint ventures arise where the Company has rights to the assets and liabilities arising from the joint ventures. The 
Company recognizes its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the joint venture including the proportion 
of those held or existing jointly, in the respective accounts in the Financial Statements. 

After applying the equity method, the Company determines whether it is necessary to recognize an impairment loss on 
its investment in the joint venture. At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether there is objective 
evidence to indicate that the investment in the joint venture is impaired. In the event that such evidence exists, the 
Company calculates the amount of the impairment as the difference between the recoverable value of the investment 
and its book value and then recognizes the loss in the line "Profits / (Loss) in associates and joint ventures" in the 
statement of comprehensive income of income. 

The Financial Statements include the investment value of TERNA FIBER at acquisition cost. The consolidation of TERNA 
FIBER using the Equity method is included in the financial statements of the IPTO SA Group. The Company, based on 
IFRS 10, is exempted from the consolidation of TERNA FIBER as (i) it is a wholly owned subsidiary of IPTO S.A., (ii) its 
shares are not publicly traded, (iii) it has not submitted nor is in the process of submitting the Financial Statements to a 
stock exchange commission or other administrative authority in order to issue securities of any category in the public 
market, and (iv) the ultimate Parent Company (IPTO S.A.) prepares consolidated financial statements that includes 
TERNA FIBER. 

2.3.2 Government grants 

Grants related to the subsidy of tangible fixed assets are recognized at their fair value when there is reasonable certainty 
that the grant will be collected and all the relevant conditions for receiving it will be met. 

These grants are recorded as income for subsequent years and are transferred to the income statement in equal annual 
installments based on the expected useful life of the granted fixed assets. 

Grants related to costs are recorded as a deduction of these costs during the period required to systematically correlate 
them with the costs granted. 

2.3.3 Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the Financial Statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Company operates (“the functional currency”). The Financial Statements are presented in Euro, which is the 
Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
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2.3.4 Transactions and balances 

Transactions involving other currencies are converted into Euro using the exchange rates which were in effect at the 
time of the transactions. At the balance sheet dates, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in other 
currencies are adjusted to reflect the current exchange rates. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency 
adjustments are reflected in other expenses in the income statement. 

2.3.5 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognized at their acquisition cost which includes all directly attributable 
expenses for their acquisition of their construction until they are ready for use as intended by the Management, 
subsequent to their initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Company and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. The repair and maintenance cost is recorded in the profit and loss when incurred. 

Depreciation of other PPE is calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful life as follows: 
 
Classification  Useful lives 
Buildings – installations on buildings  25 
Technical works and improvements (in third parties’ properties)  10 
Installations and other mechanical equipment  10 
Mechanical equipment (third parties’ assets)  35 
Computer  5 
Furniture and other equipment  10 

The residual values and useful lives of tangible assets are subject to review at each balance sheet date. When the 
carrying values of tangible assets exceed their recoverable amount, the difference (impairment) is immediately 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as an expense. 

For all assets retired or sold, their acquisition cost and related depreciation are written off. The gain or loss arising on the 
disposal of an acquired tangible asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying value 
of the asset. Any gain or loss is included in the income statement. 

2.3.6 Leases 

The Company as a lessee 

The Company assess at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. 

The Company apply a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases except for short-term leases (defined 
as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases whose underlying asset is of low value (i,e, less than Euro 
5.000). The Company treats these leases as operating expenses using the straight-line method over the term of the 
lease. The Company recognizes the lease payments relating to these leases as operating expenses in the income 
statement. 

The Company recognize lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use 
the underlying assets. 

Right of use assets 

The Company recognize right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset 
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful 
life of the assets. If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Company at the end of the lease term or its cost 
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reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. The 
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated and separate statement of financial position. 

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. 

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the 
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognized as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income in 
the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs. 

Lease liabilities 

At the commencement of the lease period, the Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease 
payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments will be discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease. if that rate can be readily determined. Otherwise, the Company will use the incremental borrowing rate. 

At the commencement date of the lease period, the lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability 
comprise the following payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the 
commencement date of the lease period: 

(a) fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable, 

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 
commencement date of the lease period, 

(c) amounts expected to be payable by the Group and the Company under residual value guarantees, 

(d) the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group and the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option, 
and 

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group and the Company exercising 
an option to terminate the lease, 

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the measurement of the lease 
liability. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability 
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. The 
Group and the Company remeasure the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use asset) whenever: 

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the 
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

• the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed 
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is measured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial 
discount rate. 

• a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case, the 
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate 

Lease liabilities are presented separate in the statement of financial position. 

Interest on the lease liability is allocated during the lease term in such a manner so that the amount produces a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability. 

After the commencement date of the lease period, the Company recognize in profit or loss (unless the costs are included 
in the carrying amount of another asset applying other applicable Standards) both: 

(a) interest on the lease liability, and 

(b) variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability in the period in which the event or 
condition that triggers those payments occurs. 
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The Company as an intermediary lessor 

Leases for which the Company is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

The Company operates as an intermediary lessor, subleasing assets to third parties. The Company treats the underlying 
lease and sublease as two separate contracts, recognizing as a finance lease asset the claim arising from the sublease 
and derecognizing part of the right of use the asset that corresponds to the sublease. During the lease period, a portion 
of the installments charged to customers is recognized as a decrease of the net investment and a portion as a lease 
income. 

Upon initial recognition of the financial asset, the Company used the discount rate used for the main lease as the interest 
rate implicit of the sublease was not easy to determine (IFRS 16, Paragraph 68). 

2.3.7 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets include costs of purchased and internally generated software. 

An intangible asset is initially recognized at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are measured at cost 
less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment loss. Amortization is recorded based on the straight-
line method over the estimated useful life of the asset. 
 
Classification of intangible asset  Useful life 
Software  5 or contract duration  

For all assets retired or sold, their acquisition cost and related depreciation are written off. The gain or loss arising on the 
disposal of an acquired intangible asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying 
value of the asset. Any gain or loss is included in the income statement 

2.3.8 Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Company assesses at each reporting date the existence or absence of evidence of impairment of its assets. These 
indications relate mainly to a greater loss in the asset's value than expected, changes in the market, technology, legal 
status, physical condition of the asset and change in use, In case there are indications, the Company calculates the 
recoverable amount of the asset. The recoverable amount of an asset is determined as the greater of the fair value of 
the asset's or cash-generating unit's sale value (net of disposal costs) and value in use. 

The recoverable amount is determined at the level of a qualifying asset unless that asset does not generate cash inflows 
that are independent of those of other assets or group of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, it is assumed that its value is impaired and adjusted to its recoverable amount. The value in use is 
calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
estimates of the time value of the money and the risks associated with that asset. The fair value of the sale (after 
deducting selling expenses) is determined on the basis, where appropriate, of applying a valuation model, Impairment 
losses from continuing operations are recognized in the income statement. At each financial position date, the extent 
to which impairment losses recognized in the past still exist or have been impaired. If there are such indications, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is redefined, Impairment losses that have been recognized in the past are reversed 
only if there are changes in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount from the recognition of the last 
impairment loss. 

The increased balance of the asset resulting from the reversal of the impairment loss may not exceed the amount that 
would have been determined (less depreciation) if the impairment loss had not been recognized in the past. Reversal 
of impairment is recognized in the income statement unless the asset is measured at fair value, where the reversal is 
treated as an increase of the already recognized goodwill and after reversal, the depreciation of the asset is adjusted so 
that the revised balance (less the residual value) is allotted equally in the future based on the remaining useful life of 
the asset. 

2.3.9 Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. 
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Financial assets 

i. Initial recognition of financial assets 

The Company classifies its financial as financial assets measured at amortized cost. 

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the contractual cash flow of the financial assets 
and the business model within which the financial asset is held. 

With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company 
has applied the practical expedient, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus transaction 
costs, in the case of a financial asset that is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Trade receivables that do 
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient are 
measured at the transaction price as determined by IFRS 15. 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost it needs to give rise to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the 
‘solely payments of principal and interest’ (SPPI) test and is performed at an instrument level. 

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how the Company manages its financial assets in 
order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual 
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, i,e,, the date that the Company 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

ii. Subsequent measurement of financial assets 

Financial assets at amortized cost 

The Company measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject 
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.  

The Company’s financial assets at amortized cost include trade and other receivables and financial lease receivables. 

iii. Derecognition of financial assets 

A financial asset is derecognized when: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 

• The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) 
the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

The Company transfers a financial asset if, and only if, it either: 

• transfers the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, or 

• retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset but assumes a contractual obligation to 
pay the cash flows to one or more recipients in an arrangement. 

When the Company transfers a financial asset, it shall evaluate the extent to which retains the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset. 

In this case: 
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• if the Company transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the entity shall 
derecognize the financial asset and recognize separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or 
retained in the transfer. 

• if the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the Company shall 
continue to recognize the financial asset. 

• if the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, 
shall determine whether it has retained control of the financial asset.  

In this case: 

(i) if the Company has not retained control, it shall derecognize the financial asset and recognize separately as 
assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer. 

(ii) if the Company has retained control, it shall continue to recognize the financial asset to the extent of its 
continuing involvement in the financial asset. 

iv. Impairment of financial assets 

The Company assess at each reporting date, whether a financial asset of financial assets is impaired and recognize, if 
necessary, an allowance for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit 
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and 
all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest 
rate. 

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition. ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the 
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL), 

For trade receivables and financial lease receivables the Company apply a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 
Therefore, the Company do not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognize a loss allowance based on lifetime 
ECLs at each reporting date. 

Financial liabilities 

i. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs. For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified as 
financial liabilities at amortized cost. 

ii. Derecognition of financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized 
in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position 
only when the Company has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and intends either to settle 
such asset and liability on a net basis or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. The legally 
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business 
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty. 

2.3.10 Trade and other receivables and finance lease receivables 

Trade receivables and finance lease receivables are initially recognized at their fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate, except if the discount outcome is not material, less provision for 
impairment. Gains and losses, including impairment and amortization, are recognized in the income statement. 
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2.3.11 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and demand deposits. 

2.3.12 Share capital and share premium 

Share capital consists of the ordinary shares of the Company. Any excess of the fair value of the consideration received 
over the par value of the shares issued is recognized as share premium in shareholders’ equity. Share capital issuance 
costs, net of related tax, are reflected as a deduction from equity. 

2.3.13 Income tax (current and deferred) 

Current income tax  

Current tax expense includes income tax resulting from the Company's profits as reformed in the tax returns and 
provisions for additional taxes and surcharges for unaudited tax years and is calculated in accordance with the statutory 
or substantively enacted tax rates on the date of preparation of the financial position. 

Deferred income tax  

Deferred income tax is calculated using the Balance Sheet method, on all temporary differences at the reporting date 
between the tax base and the book value of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences, except when the deferred income tax liability arises from initial recognition of capital gain or of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor the taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, 
carried forward tax assets and tax losses, to the extent that it is possible that taxable profit will be available to use against 
the deductible temporary differences and the carried forward unused tax assets and unused tax losses. A deferred tax 
asset is not recognized if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and at the time of the transaction it does not affect either the book profit or the taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets are reassessed at each financial year and are reduced to the extent that it is unlikely that there will be 
sufficient taxable profits against which part or all of the deferred income tax assets may be used. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are calculated based on the tax rates that are expected to be effective for the period in which the asset is realized 
or the liability settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that are in force or have been enacted at the date of preparation 
of the financial position statements. Income tax relating to items that are recognized directly in other comprehensive 
income is recognized as well directly in other comprehensive income and not in the income statement. 

2.3.14 Employee benefits 

Defined contribution plan 

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. 
The Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient 
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. 

For defined contribution plans, the Company pays contributions to publicly administered pension insurance plans on a 
mandatory basis. The Company has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The 
contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognized as 
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available. 

Employment termination benefits 

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits, the Company recognizes termination benefits 
at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Company can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) 
when the entity recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of 
termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are 
measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Termination benefits falling due more than 
12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value. 

In case of termination of employment where the number of employees who will use such benefits cannot be 
determined, the benefits are disclosed as contingent liabilities and are not accounted for. 
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2.3.15 Provisions for risks and expenses, contingent liabilities and contingent claims 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal, contractual or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle this obligation, and a reliable 
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to 
reflect the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. Contingent liabilities are 
not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed when 
an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

2.3.16 Trade and other payables 

Trade payables are obligations for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business by 
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less, If not, they are 
classified as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

2.3.17 Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue from the provision of services is recognized based on the stage of 
completion of the services provided and the degree to which the corresponding claim will be collected. 

The Company treats optical fiber network (dark fiber) lease contracts as finance leases and therefore only the part of 
the operation and maintenance fee of the optical fibers is recognized as sales revenue in the income statement (after 
the lease contract). 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue comprises the fair value of the sale of goods and services, net of value-added tax and discounts. Revenue from 
contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer at an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services. Control over goods sold and services rendered is transferred to the customer upon delivery of the respective 
products or service respectively. Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. The terms of payments usually vary according to the 
type of sale and mainly depend on the nature of the products or services, the distribution channels, and the characteristics 
of each customer. 

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step to be applied to all contracts with customers for the identification and 
the recognition of revenue. Its application also applies to the recognition and measurement of gains or losses on the sale 
of non-financial assets that are not part of three Company’s ordinary activities (e,g, sale of tangible fixed assets or intangible 
assets). 

Revenue is recognized when a contractual obligation to the individual customer is fulfilled by the provision of services. The 
customer obtains control of a service when it can direct its use and receive substantially all the remaining economic benefits 
from it. If a contract contains more than one contractual obligations, the total value of the contract is allocated to the 
individual liabilities based on the individual sales values. The revenue amount recognized is the amount allocated to the 
contractual obligation that has been fulfilled, based on the consideration that the Company expects to receive under the 
terms of the contract. 

Revenue from services 

The Company’s main revenue arises from the provision of specialized services for the operation & maintenance of the 
optical fiber network and IRU capacity services. 

In accordance with the assessment of the Company’s Management. The revenue from the operation & maintenance of 
the optical fiber network and the revenue from IRU capacity services are recognized over time as the customer receives 
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group and the Company. 

2.3.18 Interest income 

Financial income includes interest income from the fiber optic sublease and is recognized at the effective interest rate 
method. Lease payments received are recognized as a decrease of the net investment and a portion as a lease income.  
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Interest on cash deposits represents income recognized with the nominal interest rate method. 

2.3.19 Dividend distribution 

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognized as a liability in the period they are approved by the General 
Assembly of the Company’s shareholders. 

2.4 NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
 
The accounting policies that the Company has followed for the preparation of the Financial Statements are applied 
consistently, after taking into account the new standards, the following amendments to standards and interpretations 
which were issued and are mandatory for the accounting periods that begin on or after January 1, 2024. The Company's 
assessment of the impact of the application of these new standards, amendments and interpretations is set out below. 

The Company did not prematurely adopt standards, interpretations or amendments issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and adopted by the European Union but do not have mandatory implementation 
in the year 2024. 

Standards, amendments and Interpretations effective for the current period 

From 1st January 2024 the Company has adopted all amendments in IFRS as these were adopted by the European Union 
(“EU”) which relate to its operations. These Amendments and Interpretations did not have a significant impact on the 
Financial Statements of the Company, unless otherwise stated. 

IAS 1 (Amendment) “Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current” 
In January 2020, IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 clarifying the requirements for the classification of the liabilities as 
current and non - current. In particular, the amendments clarify that one of the criteria for the classification of a liability 
as non - current is the entity’s right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date. The amendments 
clarify the meaning of a right to defer settlement, the requirement of this right to exist at the reporting date and that 
management intend in relation to the option to defer the settlement does not affect current or non -current 
classification. 

Additionally, in October 2022, IASB issued an amendment providing clarifications for the classification of debt with 
covenants and requires new disclosures for non-current liabilities that are subject to future covenants.  

IFRS 16 (Amendment) “Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback”  

The amendments are intended to clarify the requirements of accounting by a seller-lessee regarding measuring the lease 
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transactions. An entity applies the amendment retrospectively in cases of sale and 
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of the initial application of IFRS 16. 

IAS 7 (Amendment) “Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures” 

In May 2023, IASB issued the final amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 which address the disclosure requirements to be 
provided by entities in relation to their supplier finance arrangements.  

New International financial reporting standards, amendments to Standards and interpretations not yet effective or 
not endorsed by the EU  

The following New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations have been issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) but are not yet effective for annual periods starting 1st January 2024. Those relating to the 
Company’s operations are presented below. The Company does not intend to early adopt the following New IFRS, 
Amendments and Interpretations before their effective date as mentioned below.  

The following amendments are not expected to have an impact on the Financial Statements of the Company, unless 
otherwise stated. 

IAS 21 (Amendment) “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of Exchangeability” (effective for annual 
periods starting on or after 1 January 2025) 

In August 2023, IASB published amendments to IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” which require 
companies to provide more useful information in their financial statements when a currency is not exchangeable to 
another currency. The amendments introduce a definition of the “exchangeability” of a currency and provide guidance 
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on how an entity should estimate a spot exchange rate in cases where a currency is not exchangeable. Also, additional 
disclosures are required in cases where an entity has estimated a spot exchange rate due to a lack of exchangeability. . 
IAS 21 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1st January 2025. Early adoption is permitted. The 
amendments have been endorsed by the EU. 

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7) 
(effective for annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2026) 

The amendments clarify that a financial liability is derecognized on the “settlement date” and introduce an accounting 
policy choice to derecognize financial liabilities settled using an electronic payment system before the settlement date. 
Other clarifications include the classification of financial assets with ESG linked features via additional guidance on the 
assessment of contingent features. Clarifications have been made to non-recourse loans and contractually linked 
instruments. The amendments require additional disclosures for investments in equity instruments that are measured 
at fair value with gains or losses presented in other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The amendments have not yet been 
endorsed by the EU. 

IFRS 18 (Amendment) “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements” (effective for annual periods starting on 
or after 1.1.2027) 

In April 2024 the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued a new standard, IFRS 18, which replaces IAS 1 
‘Presentation of Financial Statements’.  

The primary objective of the Standard is to improve the assessment of a company's performance by increasing 
comparability in presentation in an entity’s financial statements, particularly in the statement of profit or loss and in its 
notes to the financial statements. Specifically, the Standard will improve the quality of financial reporting due to a) the 
requirement of defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss) the requirement to disclose certain ‘non-GAAP’ 
measures – management performance measures (MPMs)and c) the new principles for aggregation and disaggregation 
of information. IFRS 18 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. Early adoption is 
permitted. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

The Management is in the process of assessing whether the new Standard has a significant impact in the Financial 
Statements of the Company. 
 
Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards (Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7 effective 
from 1st January 2026) 

In the annual improvements volume 11 issued on 18th July 2024 the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
makes minor amendments that include clarifications, simplifications, corrections and changes in the following 
Accounting Standards: 

• IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards - Hedge Accounting by a First-time 
Adopter 

• IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: 

- Gain or loss on derecognition 

- Disclosure of differences between the fair value and the transaction price 

- Disclosures on credit risk 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: 

- Derecognition of lease liabilities 

- Transaction price 

• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements - Determination of a ‘de facto agent’ 

• IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows - Cost Method. 

 The amendments to IFRS 9 address:  
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• a conflict between IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers over the initial measurement of 
trade receivables; and  

• how a lessee accounts for the derecognition of a lease liability under IFRS 9. 

The amendment on derecognition of lease liabilities applies only to lease liabilities extinguished on or after the beginning 
of the annual reporting period in which the amendment is first applied. 

The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1st January 2026 and earlier application is 
permitted. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

The Management is in the process of assessing whether the new Standard has a significant impact in the Financial 
Statements of the Company. 
 
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
3.1 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company's main financial instruments are as follows: 

Assets 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 

At amortized cost    

Receivables for optic fiber lease 5.464.255 5.894.951 

Other long-term receivables 2.435.237 504.944 

Trade and other receivables 4.606.742 4.268.136 

Cash and cash equivalents 7.682.445 10.994.095 

Total 20.188.679 21.662.127 

 
  

  

Liabilities    
At amortized cost   
Lease liabilities 7.965.540 7.356.979 

Other long-term liabilities 584.526 48.816 

Trade, accrued and other liabilities 5.594.944 6.411.772 

Total 14.145.009 13.817.568 

The fair values of long-term optic fiber sublease receivables and long-term lease liabilities are determined based on 
either tradeable prices or by discounting future cash flows using directly or indirectly observable inputs. The fair values 
of the remaining financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their book values. The Financial risks relate to the 
following financial instruments: Trade receivables, Cash and cash equivalents, trade, accrued and other liabilities. 

Financial risk management 

The Company is exposed to financial risks, such as market risks (fluctuations of exchange rates, interest rates, market 
prices), credit and liquidity risk. The overall risk management, focuses on the uncertainty of financial and non – financial 
markets, aiming to minimize their possible adverse effect on the Company’s financial position. The Company 
determines, evaluates and, if necessary, hedges the risks related to operating activities, while controls and revises the 
relevant policies and procedures related to financial risk management. Also, there are no speculative transactions. 
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3.2 FINANCIAL RISKS 

(a) Market risk 

i. Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair values of the cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuate due to foreign 
currency changes. The Company’s revenues are mainly based on Euro denominated agreements and therefore the 
Company is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. However, the Company's Management continuously monitors the 
foreign exchange risks that may arise and evaluates the need for such measures. 

ii. Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in the interest rates. The Company has interest bearing assets that include sight deposits. In optic fiber lease 
receivables and lease liabilities, the risk of interest rate fluctuations is considered low as interest rates remain fixed 
based on the contracts the Company is entered into. Probable interest rate changes would have no significant impact 
on the Company’s equity. Management monitors on a continuous basis, fluctuations in interest rates and evaluates the 
need for taking relevant positions to hedge against such risks. 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit 
risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, receivables from optic fiber lease, trade and other receivables. For banks and 
financial institutions only well established with good reputation parties are accepted and the Company set limits to the 
degree of exposure for each financial institution. Trade and other receivables as well as receivables from optical fiber 
leases are collected within thirty days from the issuance of the invoice. A concentration of credit risk is identified for 
these receivables, as the majority of them concern specific customers, however having a good credit rating from 
international credit rating agencies abroad. Indicatively, the Company's largest customer is PPC OPTICAL 
COMMUNICATIONS SINGLE MEMBER S.A., whose credit rating is listed below (as a 100% subsidiary of PPC S.A.): 

PCC S.A. 

Credit rating agency Rating Published on 
Standard and Poor’s BB- 16/10/2024 
Fitch BB- 26/2/2025 
ICAP CRIF BBB 5/8/2024 

* As posted on the website of the company "PPC S.A.". 

Although credit risk exists in the context of the generally unfavorable economic environment, it is currently assessed as 
controllable by the Company.The following table presents the Company's exposure to credit risk: 

 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 
Receivables from optic fiber lease 5.464.255 5.894.951 
Trade and other receivables 4.606.742 4.268.136 
Cash and cash equivalents 7.682.445 10.994.095 
Total 17.753.442 21.157.183 

 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is connected with the need to ensure adequate cash flow for the financing of the operation and the growth 
of the Company. The Company does not face liquidity risk as it has sufficient cash and cash equivalents. The Company 
manages its liquidity risk by continuously monitoring and programming its cash flows and act appropriately by ensuring 
as far as possible sufficient credit limits and cash and cash equivalents, while simultaneously seeking the best sources 
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of financing. At the same time, the Company ensures the efficient and low-risk placement of cash reserves while keeping 
cash and cash equivalents ready to implement the investments according to its articles of association. 

The following table analyzes the Company’s financial liabilities as of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, into 
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. 
The amounts disclosed in the table are the undiscounted contractual cash flows. 
 

As at December 31st, 2024 Within 1 year  
Between 1 
and 2 years  

Between 2 
and 5 years  

Over 5 
years  Total 

Trade and other liabilities 5.278.367  -  -  -  5.278.367 
Lease liabilities 1.913.948  1.123.590  2.824.632  7.341.038  13.203.208 
 7.181.785  1.123.590  2.824.632  7.341.038  18.481.575 
 

As at December 31st, 2023 Within 1 year  
Between 1 
and 2 years  

Between 2 
and 5 years  

Over 5 
years  Total 

Trade and other liabilities 6.417.878  -  -  -  6.417.878 
Lease liabilities 1.324.194  1.081.634  2.862.210  7.082.671  12.350.709 

 7.742.072  1.081.634  2.862.210  7.082.671  18.768.587 
 
Lease liabilities are not in agreement with the respective amounts shown in the Financial Statements as they are 
contractual (undiscounted) cash flows, which include capital and interest. 

 
3.3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company’s purpose in terms of capital management is to ensure its ability to continue its operations smoothly in 
order to provide returns to shareholders, benefits to other parties related to the Company and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure to reduce capital costs. 

The Company monitors its capital based on the leverage ratio. Leverage ratio is calculated as the net debt divided by 
total working capital, Net debt is calculated as the Company’s total lease liabilities (short-term and long-term liabilities 
as they appear in the statement of financial position) minus cash and cash equivalents. Total working capital is calculated 
as the sum of equity, as it appears in the statement of financial position, with net debt. 

The Company's net debt ratio relative to equity is presented in detail in the following table: 
 

 
 
The leverage ratio is calculated as the net debt divided by total working capital (total equity plus net debt). 

On December 31, 2024, the Company's leverage ratio amounted to 2% while on December31, 2023 the respective ratio 
was negative. 

 

 

 

 

              31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Long-term lease liabilities              6.659.773  6.352.961 
Short-term lease liabilities              1.305.767  1.004.019 
Minus: cash and cash equivalents              (7.682.445)  (10.994.095) 
Net lease liabilities              283.095  (3.637.116) 
Total equity              16.910.400  16.364.929 
Total working capital              17.193.495  12.727.813 
                 

Leverage ratio              2%  - 
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The table below presents an analysis of the Company’s net debt and its movement for the year 2024 and 2023. 
 
   Lease liabilities   

 Cash / Bank  

Lease 
liabilities 

within 1 year  

Lease 
liabilities 

after 1 year  Total 
Net debt on December 31, 2023 10.994.095  (1.004.019)  (6.352.960)  3.637.116 
Cash flow (3.311.651)  -  -  (3.311.651) 
Cash movements -  892.506  -  892.506 
Non-cash movements:        
Modification of leases -  (950)  -  (950) 
Recognition of new leases -  (690.207)  (691.953)  (1.382.160) 
Transfer to short term lease liabilities -  (385.140)  385.140  - 
Accrued interest -  (590.702)  -  (590.702) 
Transfer to trade liabilities -  472.745  -  472.745 
Net debt on December 31, 2024 7.682.445  (1.305.767)  (6.659.772)  (283.095) 
 
 
   Lease liabilities   

 Cash / Bank  

Lease 
liabilities 

within 1 year  

Lease 
liabilities 

after 1 year  Total 
Net debt on December 31, 2022 1.135.397  (240.043)  (4.084.664)  (3.189.309) 
Cash flow 9.858.698  -  -  9.858.698 
Cash movements -  169.910  -  169.910 
Non-cash movements:        
Modification of leases -  -  (946)  (946) 
Recognition of new leases -  (545.376)  (2.979.512)  (3.524.887) 
Transfer to short term lease liabilities -  2.267.350  (2.267.350)  - 
Transfer to trade liabilities -  (2.655.860)  2.979.512  323.651 
Net debt on December 31, 2023 10.994.095  (1.004.019)  (6.352.960)  3.637.116 
 
 
3.4 DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES 
 
Fair value and hierarchy of fair value 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount received from the sale of an asset or paid to settle a liability in a 
transaction under normal conditions between two trading parties at the valuation date. In cases where information is 
not available or is restricted by financial markets, the valuation of fair value results from Management’s assessment 
according to the available information. Fair value valuation methods are ranked at three levels: 

•Level 1: Stock market values from active financial markets for identical tradable items.  

•Level 2: Values other than Level 1 that can be identified or determined directly or indirectly through stock prices from 
active financial markets.  

•Level 3: Values for assets or liabilities that are not based on stock market prices from active financial markets. 

There are no financial assets and liabilities to measure at fair value as of December 31st, 2024 and as of December 31st, 
2023. 
The fair values of long-term optic fiber sublease receivables and long-term lease liabilities are determined based on 
either tradeable prices or by discounting future cash flows using directly or indirectly observable inputs. The fair values 
of the remaining financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their book values 
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3.5 OTHER RISKS 

Geopolitical and macroeconomic environment risk 

Currently prevailing economic conditions are stable. Following high inflation of the past years, conditions in Greece are 
normalized. Yet several uncertainties, driven by global developments, may impact on the future outlook. 

2024 was another challenging year for business due to geopolitical risks and economic challenges. The ongoing conflicts 
in the Middle East, the Russia-Ukraine war and instability in maritime trade routes-maintained supply chains under 
pressure, while the high cost of money and inflationary pressures shaped a difficult international environment. 
Developments in the international economic and geopolitical environment, particularly in the United States, directly 
affect trade flows and business strategies, creating both opportunities and challenges. 

The increase in geopolitical tensions is causing increasing concern for the markets and the economy. The energy crisis 
led to a significant increase in energy prices, an increase in food prices, as well as an adjustment of monetary policy in a 
more restrictive direction, which led to a slower growth rate in 2024. According to the forecasts of the Hellenic Fiscal 
Council, the growth rate of the Greek economy for 2024 was expected to be 2,6%, while ultimately the growth of the 
Greek economy for 2024 closed approximately to 2,3%. However, the effective use of the resources of the long-term EU 
budget 2021-2027 and the European recovery instrument NextGenerationEU can mitigate the negative effects of the 
energy crisis and the tightening of monetary policy on the Greek economy, leading in the medium term to growth rate 
close to 2,3% in 2025. 

 
4. REVENUE 

The Company treats optical fiber network (dark fiber) lease contracts as finance leases and therefore only the part of 
the operation and maintenance fee of the optical fibers is recognized as sales revenue in the income statement (after 
the lease contract). The revenue for the fiscal year 1/1-31/12/2024 is Euro 291.603 while for the fiscal year 1/1-
31/12/2023 was Euro 237.919. 

Interest from finance sublease contracts are included in financial income (Note 11). 

The Company entered into contracts for capacity services with the corresponding amount for the fiscal year amounting 
to Euro 525.313, while for the comparative fiscal year 1/1-31/12/2023 was Euro 150.417. 

The Company recognize revenues of colocation services amounting to Euro 196.479 for the fiscal year, while for the 
comparative fiscal year 1/1-31/12/2023 was Euro 104.934. 
 
5. REVENUE FROM OTHER OPERATIONS 
 
Revenue from other operations is analyzed as follows: 
 

 
1/1/2024-

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023-

31/12/2023 
Gain from derecognition of right-of-use asset on customers’ 

subleasing (Dark Fiber leases) 2.948.197  1.888.737 

Total 2.948.197  1.888.737 
 
The amount of Euro 2.948.197 for the year 1/1 - 31/12/2024 concerns gain arising from the difference between the 
amortized value of the right-of-use asset, which was recognized by the contract for the lease of the optical fiber section 
from IPTO S.A., and the financial receivable from its sublease to customers. For the corresponding fiscal year 1/1 – 
31/12/2023 the amount was Euro 1.888.737. 
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6. OTHER INCOME 
 
Other income is analyzed as follows: 

 
1/1/2024-

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023-

31/12/2023 
Revenue from re-invoicing UFBB project costs 75.000  419.249 
Other income from previous years -  1.404 
Other income 106.501  11.577 
Total 181.501  432.230 
 
The re-invoicing of costs amount of Euro 75.000 (2023: Euro 419.249) was made to TERNA FIBER, a special purpose 
company established on May 17th, 2023 for the needs of UFBB (Ultra-Fast Broad Band). It refers to consultant expenses 
undertaken by its founders (GRID TELECOM and TERNA ENERGIAKI ABETE), before it was established. Other Income 
includes re-invoicing of expenses amounting to Euro 78.870 relating to intra-group transactions for costs of consultants 
for surveys & studies. 
 
7. THIRD PARTY FEES 
 
Third party fees are analyzed as follows: 
 

 
1/1/2024-

31/12/2024 
 1/1/2023-

31/12/2023 
Fees and expenses for telecommunication consultants 572.165  510.155 
Consulting fees and expenses 201.349  200.918 
Colocation fees 261.817  253.278 
Optical fiber operation and maintenance costs 167.657  125.120 
IT services 72.838  96.812 
Accounting and Audit fees and expenses 67.590  71.950 
Other third party fees 319.939  350.218 
Total 1.663.355  1.608.452 
 
In the above analysis, IT and technology services, fiber optic maintenance expenses as well as part of the Other third 
party fees relate to intra-group transactions and amount to Euro 283.258 (31/12/2023: Euro 224.192). 
 
 
8. THIRD PARTY SERVICES 
 
Third party benefits are analyzed as follows: 
 

 
1/1/2024-

31/12/2024 
 1/1/2023-

31/12/2023 
Maintenance services 171.571  136.201 
Expense for access to third parties facilities 28.136  19.452 
Telecommunication services 6.400  5.690 
Utilities 6.329  5.931 
Repairs and maintenance 6.000  4.824    
Other services 105.585  16.119 
Total 324.020  188.216 
 
Third party services include intra-group transactions of Euro 46.864 (2023: Euro 44.193) relating to repairs and 
maintenance, utility costs, telecommunications costs, maintenance services, other services and costs for providing 
access to third party facilities. Other services include the cost of electricity for the operation of the Company's points of 
presence, which increased compared to the previous year and/or were electrified for the first time. 
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9. OTHER EXPENSES 
 
Other expenses are analyzed as follows: 

 1/1/2024-
31/12/2024  

1/1/2023-
31/12/2023 

Travel expenses 47.831  23.506 
Various promotion, advertising, conference and subscription expenses 34.511  36.504 
Prior year expenses 190  - 
Exchange losses -  117 
Other expenses  11.522  16.140 
Total 94.054  76.267 
 
10. FINANCE EXPENSES 
 
Finance expenses are analyzed as follows: 
 

 
1/1/2024-

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023-

31/12/2023 
Finance lease expense for optic fibers 587.885  403.480 
Finance lease expense for other leases 2.817  3.465 
Bank charges  11.635  12.533 
Total 602.337  419.478 
 
Financial expenses include property and optical fiber leases concerning intra-group transactions amounting to Euro 
576.464 (31/12/2023: Euro 404.154). 
 
11. FINANCE INCOME 
 
Finance income is analyzed as follows: 

 
1/1/2024-

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023-

31/12/2023 
Fiber optic lease financial income 407.241  401.903 
Interest on deposits 15.246  27.151 
Total 422.487  429.054 
 
12. INCOME TAX 
 

According to law 4799/2021, the corporate income tax rate is calculated at 22% for fiscal year 2024 and 2023. The 
income tax return is submitted on an annual basis, but the declared profits or losses remain temporary until the tax 
authorities audit the taxpayer's statements and books and records and the final audit report is issued. Income tax 
payable is offset against the tax advance and withholding taxes and the net amount appears as a receivable or liability 
in the Company's statement of financial position. The Company received an unqualified Tax Compliance Report from its 
Certified Public Accountants, regarding its tax obligations for the fiscal years 2019 to 2023. 

For the fiscal year 2024, the Company has been subject to the optional tax audit of the Certified Public Accountants. 
This special audit for obtaining a Tax Compliance Report for the fiscal year 2024 is in progress and is expected to be 
completed after the publication of the attached Financial Statements. The Tax Compliance Report will be obtained upon 
its final submission by the Certified Public Accountants to the tax authorities. Upon completion of this tax audit, 
Management does not expect any significant tax liabilities to arise beyond those recorded and reflected in the 
Company's Financial Statements. 

Tax losses, to the extent that they are accepted by the tax authorities, may offset future gains for a period of five years 
from the year in which they arose.  

Income tax is analyzed as follows: 
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1/1/2024-

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023-

31/12/2023 
Current income tax 137.025  48.613 
Income tax previous years  12.014    4.927  
Deferred tax (Note 17) 22.429   (1.212)  
Total 171.468  52.328 
 
The tax on the Company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate 
applicable in Greece on its profits. The difference is, as follows: 
 

  
 

 
 1/1/2024-

31/12/2024 
 1/1/2023-

31/12/2023 
Profit before tax     716.938  224.287 
Tax calculated based on the tax rate 
applicable     157.726  49.343 

Tax effect on non-tax deductible expenses     1.728  (1.942) 
Adjustment of previous year tax     12.014  4.927 
Tax     171.468  52.328 
Effective tax rate     23,92%  23,33% 
 
 
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Property, plant and equipment are analyzed as follows: 
 

 
Machinery  Buildings  Other 

equipment  
Construction 

work in 
progress 

 Total 

Cost          
Balance at January 1, 2023 2.745.621  141.167  24.294  397.255  3.308.337 
Additions 178.801  -  19.493  4.619.723  4.818.017 
Transfers to intangible assets 1.681.725  -  -  (1.681.725)  - 

Disposals (16.231)  -  -  -  (16.231) 
Balance at December 31, 2023 4.589.915  141.167  43.788  3.335.253  8.110.123 
          

Accumulated depreciation          
Balance at January 1, 2023 (139.290)  (7.923)  (6.260)  -  (153.473) 
Depreciation (295.094)  (6.944)  (5.066)  -  (307.104) 
Disposals 571  -  -  -  571 

Balance at December 31, 2023 (433.813)  (14.867)  (11.325)  -  (460.006) 
          
Net book value at 31 
December 2023 

4.156.102  126.300  32.462  3.335.253  7.650.117 
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Machinery  Buildings  

Other 
equipment 

 
Construction 

work in 
progress 

 Total 

Cost          
Balance at January 1, 
2024 

4.589.915  141.167  43.788  3.335.253  8.110.123 

Additions 664.138  48.095  -  1.586.205  2.298.438 
Modifications 14.995  -  (14.995)  -  - 
Transfers to intangible 
assets 

1.683.735  20.257  -  (1.712.562)  (8.571) 

Disposals (1.902)  -  -  -  (1.902) 
Balance at December 31, 
2024 

6.950.881  209.519  28.793  3.208.896  10.398.088 

 
         

Accumulated depreciation          
Balance at January 1, 2024 (433.813)  (14.867)  (11.325)  -  (460.006) 

Depreciation (539.508)  (9.216)  (5.295)  -  (554.019) 

Disposals 213  -  -  -  213 

Balance at December 31, 
2024 

(973.108)  (24.084)  (16.621)  -  (1.013.812) 

          

Net book value at 31 
December 2024 

5.977.772  185.435  12.172  3.208.896  9.384.275 

 
Construction work in progress refers to DWDM equipment that has not yet been activated on the PoP based on planned 
schedule. 
 
14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
Intangible assets are analyzed as follows: 
 
   Software 
Cost    
Balance at January 1, 2023   31.168 
Additions   - 
Transfers from PPE   - 
Balance at December 31, 2023   31.168 
    
Accumulated amortization    
Balance at January 1, 2023   (2.206) 
Amortization   (6.216) 
Balance at December 31, 2023   (8.422) 
    
Net book value at 31 December 2023   22.745 
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   Software 
Cost    
Balance at January 1, 2024   31.168 
Additions   - 
Tranfers from PPE   8.571 
Balance at December 31, 2024   39.739 
    
Accumulated amortization    
Balance at January 1, 2024   (8.422) 
Amortization   (7.319) 
Balance at December 31, 2024   (15.742) 
    
Net book value at 31 December 2024   23.997 
 
 
15. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 
 
Right of use assets are analyzed as follows: 
 

 Land  Buildings / 
Property  Vehicles  Fiber optic  Total 

Cost          
Balance at January 1, 2023 33.128  72.144  42.605  1.717.272  1.865.150 
Additions -  -  -  4.549.527  4.549.527 
Modifications 946  -  -  -  946 
Disposals -  -  -  (986.459)  (986.459) 
Balance at December 31, 2023 34.074  72.144  42.605  5.280.340  5.429.164 

          

Accumulated depreciation          
Balance at January 1, 2023 (1.824)  (28.541)  (14.992)  (43.973)  (89.331) 
Depreciation (1.506)  (7.195)  (9.704)  (121.407)  (139.811) 
Balance at December 31, 2023 (3.330)  (35.736)  (24.696)  (165.380)  (229.143) 
          
Net book value at December 31, 
2023 30.744  36.408  17.909  5.114.960  5.200.021 

 
 
 

 Land  Buildings / 
Property  Vehicles  Fiber optic  Total 

Cost          
Balance at January 1, 2024 34.074  72.144  42.605  5.280.340  5.429.164 
Additions 1.050  -  -  1.382.160  1.383.210 

Transfers 3.683  -  (3.683)  -  - 
Disposals -  -  -  (1.217.813)  (1.217.813) 

Balance at December 31, 2024 38.807  72.144  38.922  5.444.686  5.594.560 
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Accumulated depreciation          
Balance at January 1, 2024 (3.330)  (35.736)  (24.696)  (165.380)  (229.143) 
Depreciation (1.524)  (7.214)  (9.730)  (309.716)  (328.185) 
Disposals -  -  -  1.290  1.290 
Balance at December 31, 2024 (4.855)  (42.951)  (34.427)  (473.806)  (556.038) 
          
Net book value at December 31, 
2024 

33.953  29.194  4.495  4.970.880  5.038.522 

 
16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES 
 
"GRID TELECOM Single Member S.A." in cooperation with the anonymous company "TERNA ENERGY", established a 
Union of Companies under the name "Union of Companies TERNA ENERGY Commercial Industrial & Technical S.A.- GRID 
TELECOM S.A." (the “Union”), which after its successful participation in the relevant tender, has been chosen as 
temporary contractor for the execution of the project "Ultra Broadband Infrastructure - ULTRA FAST BROADBAND 
through PPP" for Geographical Zones 2, 4, 5 and 6. For the signing of the partnership agreement with the Greek State, 
the members of the Union established an anonymous company, which will sign and implement the agreement. On 
10/2/2023, the above companies signed a Shareholders Agreement to regulate their relations, In order to fulfill the 
competitive process and after a decision of the Board of Directors, the members of the Union of Companies established 
on 17/5/2023 an anonymous company with the name "TERNA FIBER SPECIAL PURPOSE COMPANY" and the 
distinguishing title "TERNA FIBER S.A." with headquarters in the Municipality of Athens, in which the founders participate 
as follows: "TERNA ENERGY S.A." with a percentage of 50,1% and the Company with a percentage of 49,9%. The initial 
share capital of the company amounted to one hundred thousand euros divided into one hundred thousand registered 
voting shares, with a nominal value of one euro each and paid in cash by the Founding Members of the Union. 

The Company has entered into a preliminary agreement for the disposal of its investment in TERNA FIBER S.A., subject 
to specific conditions, with the execution of a definitive share purchase agreement at a future date. An amount of Euro 
2.5 million, representing part of the consideration, has already been received and is depicted in the Other Liabilities 
(note 28). The actions required to complete the transaction indicate that there is significant possibility that changes to 
the disposal process will be made and as a consequence the disposal is not expected to be completed within one year. 

The Financial Statements include the investment value of TERNA FIBER at acquisition cost. The consolidation of TERNA 
FIBER using the Equity method is included in financial statements of the IPTO SA Group. The Company, based on IFRS 10, 
is exempted from the consolidation of TERNA FIBER as (i) it is a wholly owned subsidiary of IPTO S.A., (ii) its shares are 
not publicly traded, (iii) it has not submitted nor is in the process of submitting the Financial Statements to a stock 
exchange commission or other administrative authority in order to issue securities of any category in the public market, 
and (iv) the ultimate Parent Company (IPTO S.A.) prepares consolidated financial statements that includes TERNA FIBER. 

The following table summarizes the basic financial data of TERNA Fiber SA as included in its separate financial statements. 

  31/12/2024 
Non-current assets  2.380.819 
Current assets  257.090 
Non-current liabilities    (2.750.823) 
Equity  (112.915) 
Cost of sales  (1.558) 
Operating expenses  (148.361) 
Research and development expenses  (10.587) 
Financial expenses  (171) 
Income tax  - 
Profit / (Losses) and total comprehensive income  (160.677) 
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 31/12/2023 

Non-current assets 2.092.624 

Current assets 275.444 

Non-current liabilities   (2.320.305) 

Equity 47.763 

Operating expenses              (158.782) 

Research and development expenses                 106.584  

Financial expenses                        (39) 

Income tax                              -  

Profit / (Losses) and total comprehensive income                (52.237) 
 
 
17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS / LIABILITIES 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the current tax assets against 
the current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes concern the same tax authority. The offset amounts for the 
Company are the following: 
 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Deferred tax assets -  31.815 
Deferred tax liabilities (12.890)  (22.274) 
Net deferred tax (liabilities) / assets (12.890)  9.540 

The gross movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows: 
 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Balance at beginning of year 9.540  8.328 
(Charge) / income in the statement of comprehensive income (Note 12) (22.429)  1.212 
Balance at end of year (12.890)  9.540 
 
Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into account the offsetting of balances 
pertaining to the same tax authority, are the following: 
 

 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 
Deferred tax assets   
Leases                     3.997              6.865  
Provisions for impairment           14.328            23.622  
Insurance contributions                     -              1.327  
Deferred tax assets         18.324            31.814  
 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 
Deferred tax liabilities   
Rights of use liabilities         (31.214)         (22.274) 
Deferred tax liabilities         (31.214)         (22.274) 
   

Net deferred tax (liabilities) / assets (12.890)              9.540  
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18. RECEIVABLES FROM OPTIC FIBER LEASE 
 
The finance lease receivables from "Dark fiber" optical fiber leases were formed in accordance with IFRS 16 "Leases" 
as follows: 
 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Long-term receivables from finance sublease 3.546.602  3.660.526 
Short-term receivables from finance sublease 1.983.649  2.307.314 

 5.530.251  5.967.840 
Minus: Provision for impairment (65.996)  (72.888) 
Total 5.464.255  5.894.951 

The provisions against expected credit losses are shown as a deduction in the long-term part of the finance lease 
receivables. 

The movement on provision for impairment of finance lease receivables is presented in the following table: 
 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Opening balance 72.888  53.770 
(Release) / Provision for impairment (6.892)  19.119 
Closing balance 65.996  72.888 

The Company form a provision for leasing receivables based on the expected credit loss method (IFRS 9). 

The maturity dates of long-term receivables are as follows: 
 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Between 1 and 2 years 708.768  178.185 
Between 2 and 5 years 1.045.573  1.334.669 
Over 5 years 1.792.262  2.147.672 
Total 3.546.602  3.660.526 
 
The maturity analysis of finance lease receivables is as follows: 
 
Finance lease receivables – minimum lease receivables 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Up to 1 year 2.418.382  2.280.081 
Between 1 and 5 years 2.627.716  2.942.366 
Over 5 years 2.187.899  2.717.502 
Total 7.233.996  7.939.949 
Minus: Future finance income of finance lease receivables (1.703.745)  (1.972.109) 
Present value of lease receivables 5.530.251  5.967.840 
 
19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 
Other non-current assets are analyzed as follows: 
 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Deferred expenses 2.431.967  502.024  
Guarantees 3.270  2.920 
Total 2.435.237  504.944 
 
Deferred expenses mainly relate to prepaid fiber capacity services. According to the relevant contracts for the use of 
capacity on optical fiber cables, the Company does not acquire substantially all the economic benefits from the use of 
the optical fiber cables and therefore classifies them as services. 
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 
 
The analysis of trade receivables are analyzed as follows: 
 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Trade receivables 4.144.568   2.199.802  
Minus: Provision for impairment  (65.126)   (34.483) 
Minus: Retained guarantees -  (17.466) 
Total 4.079.443  2.147.854 
 
The balance of trade receivables includes also invoices for optical fiber leases which at the reporting date have not been 
received. 

The fair value of trade receivables approximates their carrying values. 

The movement on provision for impairment of trade receivables is presented in the following table: 
 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Opening balance 34.483  31.842 
Provision / (Release) of impairment 30.643  2.641 
Closing balance 65.126  34.483 
 
The Company forms a provision for doubtful customers based on the expected credit loss method. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reference dates is the carrying amount of each class of claim mentioned above. 
 
21. OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
The analysis of other receivables are analyzed as follows: 
 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Accrued income 369.421     234.798   
Deferred expenses 157.879  624.204 
Receivable from Greek state -  1.255.937 
Withholding tax 15% on bank deposits -  4.073 
Guarantees -  1.159 
Other receivables  -    111  
Total 527.300  2.120.282 
 
The majority of the receivables from the Greek State amounted to Euro 1.183.919 as of 31/12/2023 related to the VAT 
of the previous year. In 2024, the Company took action to collect a receivable from a VAT refund amounted to Euro 
1.200.000 which was collected during the year from the Greek State. 

Deferred expenses include an amount of Euro 71.556 (31/12/2023: Euro 70.278) regarding receivables from related 
parties (Note 30). This caption mainly includes invoiced operation and maintenance services. 

Accrued income mainly include recharges of expenses incurred by the Company for the purposes of the 'Terna Fiber' 
joint venture and the UFBB project. The invoicing of these costs is done gradually until the start of the operation of 
this project. 
 
22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
The cash and cash equivalents are analyzed as follows: 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Bank deposits 7.682.445  10.994.095 
Total 7.682.445  10.994.095 
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The total cash balances of the Company are in Euro, deposited with the National Bank of Greece and there are no liens 
on them. The credit rating of the Financial Institution on 31/12/2024 according to the rating agency Moody's is Baa2. 

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to impairment under IFRS 9, any impairment loss is assessed as minimal 
due to the fact that the cash and cash equivalents of the Company are held at a reputable financial institution. 
 
23. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
The Company's share capital on 31/12/2024 amounts to Euro 15.038.300 divided into 150.383 common registered shares 
of nominal value Euro 100 each. 
 
24. LEGAL RESERVE 
 
The Legal Reserve is formed in accordance with the provisions of the Greek Legislation in which an amount at 5% of the 
annual net (after tax) profits is mandatory to be formed as Legal Reserve until its amount reaches one third of the paid-
up share capital. This reserve cannot be distributed during the operation of the Company. 
 
25. LEASE LIABILITIES 
 
The lease liabilities are formed in accordance with IFRS 16 “Leases” and as of December 31, 2024 relate to the lease of 
optic fiber from IPTO SA, the lease of the Company’s headquarters, two car leases as well as the lease of transverse and 
underground land from GAIAOSE railway network for the passage of optic fiber cables.  

The movement of lease liabilities are analyzed as follows: 
 
Leasing movement 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Balance at beginning of year 7.356.979  4.324.707 
Interest for the year 590.702  406.945 
Lease payments for the year (1.365.251)  (1.925.146) 
New leases 1.382.060  4.549.527 
Modifications 1.050  946 
Balance at end of year 7.965.540  7.356.979 
 
Lease liabilities per category for the period 1/1-31/12/2024 are analyzed as follows: 
 
 
 Optic fiber  Building  Vehicles  Land  Total 
Long-term lease liabilities 6.602.336  24.500  -   32.937  6.659.773 
Short-term lease liabilities 1.292.594  7.576  4.509  1.088  1.305.767 
Total 7.894.930  32.076  4.509  34.025  7.965.540 
 

Lease liabilities per category for the period 1/1-31/12/2023 are analyzed as follows: 
 

 Optic fiber  Building  Vehicles  Land  Total 
Long-term lease liabilities 6.284.809  30.942  4.509  32.700  6.352.961 
Short-term lease liabilities 983.996  8.433  10.240  1.350  1.004.019 
Total 7.268.805  39.374  14.750  34.051  7.356.979 

The maturity dates of long-term lease payables for the period 1/1-31/12/2024 are as follows: 

 Optic fiber  Building  Vehicles  Land  Total 
Between 1 and 2 years 541.476  7.864  -  1.129  550.470 
Between 2 and 5 years 1.296.283  16.636  -  3.652  1.316.571 
Over 5 years 4.764.577  -  -  28.156  4.792.733 
Total 6.602.336  24.500  -  32.937  6.659.773 
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The maturity dates of long-term lease payables for the period 1/1-31/12/2023 are as follows: 

 
 Optic fiber  Building  Vehicles  Land  Total 

Between 1 and 2 years 284.445  7.308  4.509  1.046  297.308 
Between 2 and 5 years 1.505.189  23.634    3.381  1.532.203 
Over 5 years 4.495.176  -  -  28.274  4.523.449 
Total 6.284.809  30.942  4.509  32.700  6.352.961 

 

The present value of lease liabilities for the period 1/1-31/12/2024 are analyzed as follows: 
 
Lease liabilities - minimum 
lease payments Optic fiber  Property  Vehicles  Land  Total 
Up to 1 year 1.898.474  8.484  4.633  2.357  1.913.948 
Between 1 and 5 years 3.913.343  25.452     9.427  3.948.222 
Over 5 years 7.303.329  -     37.709  7.341.038 
Total 13.115.146  33.936  4.633  49.493  13.203.207 
Minus: Future finance cost 
of lease liabilities (5.220.216)  (1.860)  (124)  (15.468)  (5.237.668) 
Present value of lease 
liabilities 7.894.930  32.076  4.509  34.025  7.965.540 
 

The present value of lease liabilities for the period 1/1-31/12/2023 are analyzed as follows: 
 
Lease liabilities - minimum 
lease payments Optic fiber  Property  Vehicles  Land  Total 
Up to 1 year 1.302.832  8.484  10.590  2.288  1.324.194 
Between 1 and 5 years 3.896.122  33.936  4.633  9.153  3.943.844 
Over 5 years 7.043.772  -  -  38.899  7.082.671 
Total 12.242.726  42.420  15.223  50.339  12.350.709 
Minus: Future finance cost 
of lease liabilities (4.973.921)  (3.046)  (474)  (16.289)  (4.993.729) 

Present value of lease 
liabilities 7.268.805  39.374  14.750  34.051  7.356.979 

 
 
26. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
 
At the beginning of March 2023, a grant from the European Commission's Connecting Europe Facility financing mechanism 
was approved for the development of a network of electric vehicle charging stations. GRID TELECOM (with a coordinating 
role) and four other companies in Union countries (the "consortium") undertook the implementation of a network of 
publicly accessible recharging stations for light-duty and heavy-duty electric vehicles to allow electric charging along roads 
TEN-T networks (Trans-European Transport Networks) in the Czech Republic, Croatia, Greece, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, 
Romania, Slovakia and Slovenia. Based on the role of coordinator, GRID TELECOM was appointed the recipient of the grant 
and its administrator in terms of its distribution to the other members of the consortium. The amount of the total grant for 
the consortium amounts to Euro 40.950.000, while Euro 6.000.000 corresponds to GRID TELECOM. 

On 15.5.2023 for the grant action EXPAND-E Cohesion, GRID TELECOM received from the EUROPEAN CLIMATE, 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND ENVIRONMENT EXECUTIVE AGENCY (CINEA) for the program "CEF 2 Transport - Alternative Fuels 
Infrastructure Facility" (EU financial instrument for the boosting EU-wide investments in transport, energy and digital 
infrastructure), an amount of Euro 20.475.000 as an advance payment of the total grant from which it distributed an 
amount of Euro 17.475.000 to the other 4 members of the consortium, keeping for itself the remaining amount of Euro 
3.000.000 corresponds to it. 
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The movement of grants is analyzed as follows: 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Opening balance 3.000.000  - 
New received grants -  3.000.000 
Closing balance 3.000.000  3.000.000 
 
27. NON-CUURENT LIABILITIES 
 
Other non-current liabilities are analyzed as follows: 
 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Deferred income (Note 29) 522.498  41.616 
Liabilities for guarantees 32.027  7.200 
Total 584.526  48.816 
 
 
28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
The trade and other payables are analyzed as follows: 
 
 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Trade payables 2.435.113   3.722.297  
Other liabilities  2.568.003    2.551.780  
Liabilities to Greek State 204.798  - 
Other taxes payable and insurance contributions  70.453    143.801  
Total 5.278.367  6.417.878 
 
An amount of Euro 894.318 (31/12/2023: Euro 997.521) is included at Trade payables which refers to related parties 
(Note 23).  

The fair value of the trade and other short-term liabilities approach the net book value. 
 
29. DEFERRED INCOME 
 
Deferred income refers to prepaid income of optic fiber’s maintenance and capacity services. The short-term part is 
included in the deferred income, while the long-term part is included in the other long-term liabilities.  
 
30. TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES 
 
The Company's Financial Statements are consolidated by the parent company INDEPENDENT POWER TRANSMISSION 
OPERATOR S.A. (IPTO S.A.), using the full consolidation method, which participates directly with a 100% stake in its share 
capital on 31/12/2024. 

The Company is indirectly controlled by the Greek State through the parent IPTO S.A.. The share capital of IPTO S.A. is 
controlled by 51% from IPTO Holdings S.A. and by 25% from DES IPTO S.A. which are controlled by the Greek State. 

Below is a list of the Group's affiliated companies: 
 
Company  Relation 
IPTO SA  Parent 
ARIADNI INTERCONNECTION SA  Affiliated 
ENERGY EXCHANGE GROUP  Affiliated 
ENERGY STOCK EXCHANGE CLEARING COMPANY S.A. (EnExClear 

S.A.) 
 Affiliated 

SEleNe CC  Affiliated 
IPTO HOLDING SA  Affiliated 
P.H.V. A.D.M.I.E. (I.P.T.O.) S.A.  Affiliated 
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STATE GRID LTD  Affiliated 
TERNA FIBER S.A.  Affiliated 
TRAINING CENTER IPTO S.M.S.A.  Affiliated 
GREAT SEA INTERCONNECTOR S.A.  Affiliated 
SAUDI GREEK INTERCONNECTION S.A.  Affiliated 
 
a) Transactions with related parties 

Related party transactions refer to the provision and purchase of services in the normal course of business. The aggregate 
amounts of transactions with related parties from the beginning of the year under IAS 24, are as follows: 
 
Intercompany sales of services 1/1/2024 - 31/12/2024  1/1/2023 - 31/12/2023 
IPTO S.A. 91.091  - 
Σύνολο 91.091  - 
 
 

Sales to other related companies 
1/1/2024 - 

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023 - 

31/12/2023 
TERNA FIBER S.A. 75.000 

 
419.249 

Total 75.000 
 

419.249 
 
 

Intercompany purchase of services 
1/1/2024 – 

31/12/2024  
1/1/2023 – 

31/12/2023 
IPTO S.A. 1.097.054 

 
742.816 

Total 1.097.054 
 

742.816 
 

IPTO services concern mainly to optical fiber maintenance costs, utility costs, maintenance services, IT services and 
accounting services. 

Board of Directors and Key Management 

The Board of Directors’ members remuneration, social security contributions and representation expenses inclusive, for 
the year ended at 31st of December 2024, for the Company amount to Euro 210.887 (2023: Euro 107.976). 
 
b) Balances with related parties 

The closings balances of receivables and liabilities for the fiscal year, which have resulted from transactions with related 
parties under IAS 24, are as follows: 
 
  
Receivables and accrued receivables 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
Intercompany    
IPTO S.A. 172.165 

 
84.285 

Other related companies    
TERNA FIBER S.A. 526.942  451.942 
Total 699.107 

 
536.227 

 
  
Intercompany payables and accrued payables 31/12/2024  31/12/2023 
IPTO S.A. 8.432.854 

 
7.525.373 

Obligations to Board members -  - 
Total 8.432.854 

 
7.525.373 

 
The are no receivables or liabilities from  / to Company’s members of the Board of Directors on 31st of December 2024. 
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The executives of the Company have not received leaving indemnity during 2024. 
 
The Company's transactions with related parties have been carried out under normal market conditions. 
 
31. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
For the years ended 31.12.2019 until 31.12.2023 and remain tax unaudited by the competent tax authorities. 
Management’s assessment is that any taxes that may arise will not have a material effect on the Financial Statements. 

For the same years, the Company has been subject to the tax audit of Certified Public Accountants, in accordance with the 
regime provided by the provisions of article 65A of Law 4174/2013 as amended by article 37 of Law 4664/2019 and 
unqualified Tax Compliance Reports were issued. For the year 2024, the Company has been subject to the tax audit of the 
Certified Public Accountants, as provided for by the provisions of article 65a of Law 4174/2013. This audit is in progress 
and the relevant Tax Compliance Certificate is expected to be issued after the publication of the Financial Statements for 
fiscal year 2024. If additional tax liabilities arise by the completion of the tax audit, it is estimated that these will not have 
a material impact on the Financial Statements. 

In 2021, a tax audit order had been issued for the Company by tax authority F.A.E. of Athens. The order was for a partial 
tax audit in Income regarding the income tax return for the year 2020. The audit was completed without findings. 

In 2024, an audit order was issued for the Company by tax authority "EL.KE.". The order concerns a partial tax audit for 
VAT and Income for the years 2020 and 2021. The audit is in progress and no findings have been communicated to the 
Company. 

There are no commitments and no other contingent liabilities or legal cases at balance sheet date. 

 
32. RECLASSIFICATIONS 

In the context of providing better information through the Financial Statements during the current year, the Company 
made the following reclassifications. Tendering services reclassified from other expenses to third party fees and fees for 
cleaning and security services from third party services reclassified to third party fees. Also, income from UFBB project 
cost reinvoicing and other income was reclassified from revenue from other operations to other income in the expense 
category. 

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Note Published amounts as 

at 31/12/2023 
Reclassified amounts 

as at 31/12/2023 Reclass 

Revenue from other operations 5 2.320.966 1.888.737 (432.229) 
Other income  6 - 432.229 432.229 
Third party services 8 (196.512) (188.216) 8.296 
Third party fees 7 (1.586.554)  (1.608.452) (21.628) 
Other expenses  9 (89.869)  (76.267) 13.602 

It is noted that in the published Financial Statements for the year 1/1 – 31/12/2023 "Other income" was renamed as 
"Revenue from other operations ". 
 
33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
There are no subsequent events, apart from those disclosed in the above notes, that would require disclosure or 
adjustment on the Financial Statements. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report  
(Translated from the original in Greek) 

To the Shareholders of 
GRID TELECOM SINGLE MEMBER S.A. 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the Financial Statements of GRID TELECOM SINGLE MEMBER S.A. (the 
“Company”) which comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2024, the 
Income Statement and Other Comprehensive Income, Changes in Equity and Cash Flows for the 
year then ended, and notes, comprising material accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 
In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the  
financial position of GRID TELECOM SINGLE MEMBER S.A. as at 31 December 2024 and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.  

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA) as 
incorporated in Greek legislation. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as 
incorporated in Greek legislation, and the ethical requirements that are relevant to the audit of the 
financial statements in Greece and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the requirements of the applicable legislation. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Matters 
The Financial Statements of the Company for the prior year ended 31 December 2023 were 
audited by another Audit Firm, for which the Certified Auditor issued an audit report on 3 April 
2024 expressing an unmodified opinion.  

Other Information 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the Board of Directors’ Report, which is further referred to in the 
“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements”, but does not include the Financial 
Statements and our auditors’ report thereon. 
Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
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material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this respect.  

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial 
Statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal 
control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of  financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the  financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors 
either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so.  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs which have been 
incorporated in Greek legislation will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these Financial Statements. 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, which have been incorporated in Greek legislation, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
Board of Directors’ Report 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the Board of Directors’ Report. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the Board of Directors’ Report and we do not 
express an audit opinion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the Board of Directors’ Report and, 
in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the information 
therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit 
knowledge. Based solely on that work pursuant to the requirements of paragraph 1, cases aa, ab 
and b, of article 154C of L. 4548/2018, we note that: 

(a) In our opinion, the Board of Directors’ Report has been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable legal requirements of Articles 150 of L. 4548/2018 and its contents 
correspond with the accompanying Financial Statements for the year ended 
31 December 2024. 

(b) Based on the knowledge acquired during our audit, relating to GRID TELECOM 
SINGLE MEMBER S.A. and its environment, we have not identified any material 
misstatements in the Board of Directors’ Report. 

Athens, 2 May 2025 
KPMG Certified Auditors S.A.  

AM SOEL 186 
 
 
 
 

Philippos Kassos, Certified Auditor Accountant 
 AM SOEL 26311 
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